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          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Good morning

          3  and welcome.  I'm Councilman Jim Gennaro, Chair of

          4  the City Council's Committee on Environmental

          5  Protection.  Welcome to today's Hearing on one goal

          6  of PLANYC, the Bloomberg Administration's plan to

          7  create a sustainable New York City by the year 2030.

          8                 Namely, we're here to consider the

          9  plan's goal to "Reduce global warming emissions in

         10  the City by more than 30 percent" and discuss how to

         11  best achieve this truly ambitious goal. Of course,

         12  we're talking about global warming and it's freezing

         13  out so that's like the comic element of today's

         14  Hearing.  So there you have it.  God has got a sense

         15  of humor today. So how about that.

         16                 I don't think I need to stress the

         17  importance of the issue of reducing global warming

         18  pollution to any of you here today.  Global warming

         19  is, I believe, the most important environmental

         20  challenge of our time.  The unprecedented importance

         21  of this issue dictates that we take a bold, decisive

         22  course of action now if we are to avoid increasingly

         23  catastrophic consequences in the future.

         24  Identifying the right course of action to reduce

         25  global warming pollution in the face of complexity,
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          2  uncertainty, and reluctance to squarely face an

          3  inconvenient truth will require our collective

          4  wisdom, experience and commitment. This is why we

          5  are having this Hearing today.

          6                 It is also worth noting again that

          7  the goal of reducing City global warming emissions

          8  by more than 30 percent is but one of ten goals of

          9  the initiative that has been launched by the

         10  Bloomberg Administration in an effort to transform

         11  New York into a sustainable City by 2030.

         12                 Council Speaker Christine Quinn and I

         13  have has had the privilege of partnering with the

         14  Administration on this effort and serve on, what I

         15  must admit, is a star-studded board.  I must say it

         16  has an honor and education.

         17                 I will leave it to the representative

         18  of the Administration today Mr. Aggarwala, the

         19  Director of the new office of Long Term Planning and

         20  Sustainability to provide background on the PLANYC

         21  effort, as well as to discuss how and why the

         22  Administration has chosen a goal of reducing global

         23  warming emissions by more than 30 percent in 2030.

         24                 But I cannot overstate my support for

         25  the sustainability effort, for its vision, for its
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          2  boldness, and for the Mayor's commitment to it.

          3                 So I'd like to pause for a moment and

          4  thank some of the people who are leading this great

          5  effort.  First, of course, is Mayor Bloomberg

          6  himself, who is demonstrating how a real leader

          7  rises to the challenges of his time.  And then, of

          8  course, is Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, who is directly

          9  overseeing this effort, giving it direction and

         10  inspiration, and fueling it with his considerable

         11  energy and determination.  And there is Rohit, the

         12  man who has the day-to-day, and I literally mean the

         13  24/7 day-to-day responsibility of creating PLANYC

         14  and whom I'd like to specifically address for a

         15  moment.

         16                 Rohit, four months ago you came

         17  before this Committee for the first time.  We were

         18  talking about a bill of mine that would require the

         19  City to come up with a long term, overdue, long

         20  range environmental sustainability plan.  You

         21  remember?  Okay. At that time we also discussed

         22  another bill of mine which would have required the

         23  City to adopt long range global warming pollution

         24  reduction goals.  So far so good? Okay.  But you

         25  told me, "Councilman, hold off on your bills. I've
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          2  got the type of sustainability plan and global

          3  warming pollution goals envisioned by your bills

          4  done.  Trust me.  Trust me."

          5                 I'm thinking to myself, I don't know,

          6  he's kind of young, but then again he's got the

          7  pedigree, Columbia, Mckinsey, a lot about this guy

          8  that you really don't know.  And after all, Deputy

          9  Mayor Doctoroff hired him, and that's a big deal.

         10  So I decided okay, I'll put my sustainability and

         11  global warming bills on the side and give this guy a

         12  shot.  But if he comes back with some weak- kneed,

         13  mealy mouthed plans and goals, I'm not going to

         14  hesitate to resurrect my bills and legislate these

         15  things.  And for the record, don't think that I

         16  don't always keep a copy of these bills within

         17  reach, just in case.

         18                 But, Rohit, I've got to tell you

         19  honestly that so far you've exceeded my

         20  expectations, to this point certainly, particularly

         21  with regard to C02 reductions.  This goal to reduce

         22  global warming emissions by more than 30 percent is

         23  simply remarkable and we're behind you.  It's

         24  certainly remarkable in its ambition.

         25                 Having this goal, I believe, will in
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          2  many ways cause power generation and power use in

          3  the City to be fundamentally reshaped for the

          4  better.  The goal is also remarkable in its likely

          5  impact.  This is a city of about 8.2 million people

          6  in a nation that is very energy intensive in its

          7  habits.  Cutting the City's global warming pollution

          8  emissions in the City by more than 30 percent on its

          9  own will have a substantive, and not just symbolic,

         10  impact on global warming.

         11                 People think, well, we're just a

         12  City, come on, you know we do this whole thing.

         13  What's the impact going to be?  It's kind of like

         14  symbolic.  I clearly believe that it's more than

         15  that. We are the big City.  We have to lead by

         16  example, and we're going to do exactly that.

         17                 Finally, the global warming pollution

         18  goal is remarkable in its leadership potential.

         19  Borrowing from a familiar old song "If you can make

         20  this goal here, you can make it anywhere."  While

         21  it's not exactly true because New York City enjoys

         22  some natural advantages, I do not for a moment doubt

         23  that our adoption of this goal and its supporting

         24  action plan, will convince, shame, cajole, and

         25  otherwise prompt many others, including both
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          2  governments and private businesses, to follow our

          3  lead and commit to equally global warming pollution

          4  reductions.

          5                 So while there is very hard and

          6  important work ahead, namely translating these goals

          7  into specific, effective actions, and you all know

          8  that the Council and I have our eyes on some

          9  specific elements of this plan, and that we can be

         10  very persistent and demanding, today I would like to

         11  take the occasion of having you once again back in

         12  front of this Committee to sincerely, heartedly and

         13  very publicly congratulate you for the remarkable

         14  job well done thus far, and we thank you.

         15                 Now with that said, let's get on with

         16  the important task of considering the goal of

         17  reducing global warming emissions in the City by

         18  more than 30 percent over the next 25 years and the

         19  best course of action to achieve that.  So today's

         20  Hearing is pretty straight forward.  We'd like to

         21  here from you and everyone here, from interested

         22  parties and from the public at large, your thoughts

         23  on the elements, measures and approaches that you

         24  believe are necessary to plan to achieve and exceed

         25  the ambitious goal that has been set out for the
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          2  City.

          3                 Your thoughts will not only help

          4  Rohit and his team in developing the final action

          5  plan for the goal, but will help me and the Council

          6  to shape our input in this process.

          7                 So with that, I thank you all once

          8  again for being here, and I turn it over to Rohit

          9  who we'll call to the witness stand now to introduce

         10  the issues.  After that, we'll turn it over to those

         11  wishing to testify today.  Rohit, if you could come

         12  up.            I just want to also thank the folks

         13  from the Council side who have been so active on

         14  sustainability.  We have our excellent staff here,

         15  Counsel to the Committee, Donna De Costanzo, policy

         16  analyst Dan Avery,  My own Chief of Staff, Peter

         17  Washburn, I thank them all for their dedication and

         18  diligence to this issue. The Speaker's Office has

         19  been very active on this, Maury Keeney (phonetic),

         20  has been very, very active on this.  We have Deputy

         21  Chief of Staff, Euly (phonetic) Martinez, who is

         22  taking a leadership role in this.  And, of course,

         23  Chris Quinn for making this a powerful focus of the

         24  Council and serving on the Board herself.

         25                 Now, Rohit, don't tell me that one of
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          2  the things on global warming to help fight is that I

          3  have to talk less, or whatever, because I think I

          4  add a lot to global warming just by virtue of the

          5  C02 that comes out of my mouth.  So, we thank you

          6  for being here and we're glad to have you here, and

          7  Donna will give you the oath, and then you can

          8  proceed with your good testimony.  Thank you.

          9                 COUNSEL DE COSTANZO:  Please raise

         10  your right hand. In the testimony that you are about

         11  to give do you swear or affirm to tell the truth the

         12  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         13                 MR. AGGARWALA:  I do.

         14                 COUNSEL DE COSTANZO:  Thank you.

         15                 MR. AGGARWALA:  Councilmen, Jim and

         16  Staff and members of the audience, I want to thank

         17  you for the opportunity to speak this morning on the

         18  Administration's goal.  Thank you for kind words and

         19  also thank you for all of the help that you and your

         20  team have given us throughout these four months.  I

         21  think your participation and the Speaker's

         22  participation in the Sustainability Advisory Board

         23  has been crucial to our success thus far and is, in

         24  fact, even more crucial to actually achieving any of

         25  these goals, which is of course the more important
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          2  thing than just setting them.           I will note

          3  for everybody's benefit that we had, last fall, 25

          4  meetings of either the Advisory Board or its various

          5  sub- committees.  The only Board Member either to be

          6  present or to have representatives at every single

          7  meeting was Councilman Gennaro and, of course, his

          8  staff.  So we're going to mint some medallions for

          9  you guys as a memento of all of that work.  But I

         10  think we are really building on the Council's track

         11  record of leadership over the last several years

         12  here, and I think it's a great partnership, so,

         13  thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         15                 MR. AGGARWALA:  As the Councilman

         16  said, my name is Rohit Aggarwala, and I am Director

         17  of Long- term Planning and Sustainability in the

         18  Mayor's Office of Operations.  I'd like to thank you

         19  for holding this Hearing on the Mayor's Citywide

         20  carbon target.

         21                 As you know, last month in his speech

         22  outlining ten goals to make New York a sustainable

         23  City by the year 2030, Mayor Bloomberg established a

         24  goal of reducing our greenhouse gas emissions by 30

         25  percent by that year.  What I'd like to do this
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          2  morning is share with you the process by which we

          3  reached that goal, why we think it's important, and

          4  some options that we are considering as potential

          5  ways to achieve it.

          6                 The overall goals of the

          7  sustainability effort, PLANYC, were developed

          8  through the work of the Sustainability Advisory

          9  Board.  I'm very happy that you and Speaker Quinn

         10  are members of that Board, and I'm pleased, as I

         11  said, to point out that you've been present and

         12  active at every meeting we've had.

         13                 The need for New York City to set a

         14  carbon target is real and increasingly immediate.

         15  Scientists worldwide have noted that what were

         16  emerging trends only a few years ago have become

         17  quite obvious realities.  Global temperatures are

         18  higher than they were a generation ago.  Glaciers

         19  have retreated all over the world; and edges of

         20  polar ice caps have been breaking up, including one

         21  major collapse in Canada just a few days ago.

         22                 But, as the Mayor said on December

         23  12, it's called global warming, but its effects are

         24  very local.  Working with our partners at Columbia

         25  University's Earth Institute, who have been advising
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          2  my office and the Advisory Board, we've begun to

          3  understand what global warming means for us here in

          4  the five boroughs.

          5                 It's a grim picture.  Already we

          6  suffer from what's called the "urban heat island

          7  effect," which the data shows makes New York City 5

          8  degrees Fahrenheit hotter than the surrounding

          9  suburbs during the summer caused by the fact that

         10  buildings and paved surfaces retain heat while trees

         11  and grass reduce it.  This makes us even more

         12  susceptible to longer, more intense heat waves, and

         13  the health risks they bring, than the region around

         14  us.

         15                 We have over 500 miles of coastline

         16  in this City, and we've taken great steps in the

         17  last generation to reclaim our waterfront.  But

         18  global warming, therefore, also increases the

         19  frequency of violent storms that threaten to flood

         20  that waterfront. One study has estimated that New

         21  York is second only to Miami in terms of the

         22  potential losses we face from a direct hit by a

         23  violent storm.

         24                 Even more threatening is the risk of

         25  significant sea level change.  This isn't the realm
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          2  of science fiction.  Sea levels, as measured just a

          3  mile from here at the Battery, have already risen

          4  over a foot in the last 150 years.  Much of that is

          5  due to geology rather than climate change, but

          6  recently the rate at which the water level in the

          7  harbor is rising has increased, and that is due to

          8  climate change.  As that accelerates, parts of the

          9  City could one day be under water, or flooded much

         10  of the time.

         11                 New York is already, we believe, the

         12  most carbon efficient city in the United States.  We

         13  have the highest transit usage, the lowest per

         14  capita energy consumption.  We even do pretty well

         15  when it comes to trees.  But we cannot rest on this

         16  achievement, because if we don't act, it's fair to

         17  assume that others will be complacent.

         18                 As a result of these threats to our

         19  long- term quality of life, we worked with the

         20  Sustainability Advisory Board to establish a carbon

         21  target that would be what we called "ambitious yet

         22  achievable."  Our approach was that we did not want

         23  to set a target that could not be reached without

         24  hurting the City's economy because that would not

         25  only be bad for business, it would also be bad for
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          2  the environment if it meant that growth took place

          3  in parts of the country that are less

          4  environmentally efficient.  We also did not want to

          5  rely on technological innovation that may or may not

          6  yet arrive.  But we also wanted to understand what

          7  scientists were telling us was necessary in order to

          8  prevent climate change.  So it was a top- down and

          9  bottom- up process.

         10                 To achieve this, we first understood

         11  what other jurisdictions in the United States and

         12  around the world have set as their targets, and what

         13  scientists are saying about necessary long term

         14  goals.  Near term targets in other cities, states

         15  and countries generally do between 2010 and 2020,

         16  range from 10 to 20 percent.  Scientists, however,

         17  are increasingly calculating that reductions from

         18  today on the order of 60 to 80 percent are necessary

         19  by the end of this century.  As a result, those

         20  jurisdictions that have set truly long- term

         21  targets, such as London and California, have set

         22  targets for 2050 that are in the 50 to 80 percent

         23  range.  These are detailed in the backup document on

         24  climate change that is available on our PLANYC

         25  website.
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          2                 With these in hand, we modeled

          3  several different levels of potential carbon targets

          4  and thought through what would be required to

          5  achieve each.  Working with the Advisory Board, we

          6  refined both the estimates of impact and the

          7  feasibility of various potential levers.  Through

          8  that process, we arrived at a target of 30 percent

          9  by 2030.  We believe it is ambitious.  We believe it

         10  is achievable using existing technology, and we

         11  believe it sets us on the right track to achieve

         12  even higher targets later in the century.

         13                 How will we achieve these goals?  We

         14  do not know. The work we did prior to December was

         15  mainly to understand what was achievable, not decide

         16  what the right plan was.  Currently, as you know, we

         17  are undertaking both a great deal of staff work to

         18  understand various potential solutions, and we are

         19  undertaking a citywide listening effort to

         20  understand how New Yorkers all across the City think

         21  we should address this and other goals the Mayor set

         22  forth.

         23                 We are also undertaking the first

         24  ever citywide greenhouse gas inventory for New York.

         25    We expect the results of that to be ready in time
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          2  for the release of the plan in March, as the Mayor

          3  promised.

          4                 However, even without the inventory

          5  being done, we do know that, broadly speaking, there

          6  are three main sources of greenhouse gases that New

          7  York City produces.  The first is from fossil fuels

          8  that are burned to produce the energy that buildings

          9  use for heating, lighting, and other purposes.  The

         10  second is from fuels used in transportation,  mainly

         11  in automobiles, but also in trucks, buses, and

         12  airplanes.  And the third is from methane, a far

         13  more powerful greenhouse gas than carbon dioxide,

         14  emitted from landfills and wastewater.

         15                 As you know, we are working through a

         16  variety of potential solutions to reduce the carbon

         17  emitted from each of these sources.  As the Mayor

         18  promised, we will have a plan ready in March.  We

         19  are committed to developing a plan that is realistic

         20  and backed up by actions, and we hope that the

         21  Council will continue to be our close partner in

         22  this effort, because many of those actions may have

         23  legislative and budgetary implications.  I think at

         24  some point it may make sense to follow the lead of

         25  other jurisdictions and legislate targets, but my
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          2  first priority is developing a real plan and then

          3  taking steps to achieve our goal.

          4                 Thank you for inviting me to speak

          5  today, and I'm happy to answer any questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          7  Rohit. I appreciate very much your statement.  We're

          8  joined by Councilman Dominic Recchia from Brooklyn.

          9  We thank Dominic for being here.  Someone who

         10  represents Coney Island has to be very sensitive to

         11  sea level increases.  I have some prepared

         12  questions.

         13                 You mentioned in your statement a

         14  little bit about some of the jurisdictions with

         15  short- term goals, and London, and of long- term

         16  goals.  But I guess for rather medium range goals,

         17  how does the City's goal to reduce global warming

         18  emissions by more than 20 percent by the year 2030

         19  compare with goals that other jurisdictions have

         20  adopted to reduce global warming emissions in that

         21  20- 30 kind of range?  Do we have comparisons?

         22  People who have -- near- term, long- term but who

         23  else is looking at 20- 30ish, and what are they

         24  talking about?

         25                 MR. AGGARWALA:  Perhaps,
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          2  surprisingly, in fact, I don't know that any

          3  jurisdiction, that I'm aware of has actually set a

          4  20- 30 goal, and we found ourselves perhaps a bit in

          5  an awkward position because we started off thinking

          6  about 25 years hence the population hitting 9

          7  million as our time frame.

          8                 What I've got here is the list of

          9  those short term and longer term goals, and if you

         10  think about how 30 by 30 would fit on a trajectory,

         11  I think it's very much in line with most of these

         12  other jurisdictions.

         13                 So if you think about 30 by 30, it

         14  means we probably would need to be on a trajectory

         15  that would get us in the range of 15 to 20 percent

         16  by 2020, and then you can probably have it

         17  accelerate in the last couple of years as things you

         18  do now really bear fruit.  And it would set us on a

         19  course for some of those higher goals later on

         20  which, in large part it's firmly reasonable to

         21  expect that a large chunk of a 2050 goal could be

         22  achieved by technology that we don't yet have.  But

         23  we really didn't want to leave ourselves the out of

         24  kind of saying, well, here is something we don't

         25  know how to achieve, and we're going to count on
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          2  photovoltaics becoming as free as air or whatever to

          3  get there.  So we think we're very much in line with

          4  the global movement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You mention in

          6  your statement the three main sources of greenhouse

          7  gases in the City.  Can you give us the percentage

          8  that each of those sources contributes?  The fuel

          9  for energy, the fuel for transportation, and I guess

         10  the methane.

         11                 MR. AGGARWALA:  We don't have exact

         12  numbers because those are what we are working on

         13  from the Citywide inventory.  What we used as a bit

         14  of a rule of thumb was that roughly 60 percent or

         15  thereabout 60 percent of the total carbon likely

         16  comes from the energy produced for buildings,

         17  whether it's electricity generation or heating oil

         18  or what have you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  60 percent?

         20                 DIRECTOR AGGARWALA:  That's what

         21  we've used as our rule of thumb at the moment.  It's

         22  not yet backed up by New York specific data.  That's

         23  a significant process that my office is undertaking

         24  as we speak.  We think roughly 30 percent is

         25  probably transportation fuel, and roughly 10 percent
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          2  of the carbon equivalent is from the methane.

          3  That's based on national averages that we've kind of

          4  adjusted through a common sense metric.

          5                 New York, obviously is probably less

          6  based on transportation since our transportation

          7  system is pretty efficient. More so in buildings, we

          8  have much less of the industrial emissions that the

          9  national average would do.  So we've adjusted it

         10  that way.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  You

         12  mentioned in your answer just now and also in your

         13  statement about the greenhouse gas inventory that's

         14  being done now.  If you could just speak a little

         15  more about that.  What are the rudiments of it?

         16  Who's doing it? What are they looking at?  Just give

         17  people a little sketch of what the inventory is

         18  about and who's doing it.

         19                 MR. AGGARWALA:  Well. We're doing it

         20  using -- Who's doing it is my office.  In fact, the

         21  person who is specifically charged doing it is John

         22  Dickinson, as Senior Policy Advisory to the Deputy

         23  Mayor on Sustainability.  We are doing this using

         24  the ICLEI model that other jurisdictions also use.

         25                 So we're using what is kind of state-
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          2  of- the- art computer modeling to do the

          3  assessments.  The way we're approaching it is that

          4  we're trying to figure out what all of the points of

          5  consumption that are trackable are.  So, for

          6  example, we can get total electricity consumption

          7  for a variety of years.  We're trying to get things

          8  like total amount of heating oil sold.

          9                 We're trying to understand the

         10  electricity consumed by the subways and the commuter

         11  rail.  Auto emissions and other vehicle emissions

         12  can be estimated based on vehicle miles traveled as

         13  recorded by Nimtech.  Those various components,

         14  we're really trying to figure out, what are the

         15  points that are measured or estimable that we can

         16  then develop a Citywide perspective on.

         17                 It is as you know an inexact science

         18  because one of the key questions.  You know, one can

         19  wind up doing things about having arguments about

         20  how many angels can dance on the head of a pin.  If

         21  we think about, for example, we could count, as I

         22  think we probably will, we're still working out some

         23  of the details, but you can argue that half of the

         24  fuel consumed by airplanes in and out of the City

         25  should be credited or charged to New York City's
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          2  carbon footprint.  And that's reasonably easy to

          3  estimate because we know how much fuel is loaded

          4  onto planes at the airports.

          5                 However, backing out the truck

          6  emissions that bring food and other retail goods

          7  into the City is virtually impossible, and, frankly,

          8  I don't think we're going to try because it's not

          9  that helpful in the near term.

         10                 Whereas, understanding how much

         11  electricity we consume in what sectors is reasonably

         12  knowable and really does help us set targets and set

         13  policy directions.  So I think we're doing it at

         14  that level where we believe the mix of work required

         15  combined with the precision that is even achievable

         16  because so much of this is based on estimates,

         17  balanced with what we would actually use it for,

         18  which is really to make sure that the policies we

         19  adopt will have the intended effects, at least

         20  directionally, even if not down to the last ton of

         21  carbon.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  To

         23  what extent will the reduction of global warming

         24  pollution emissions from City government operations

         25  play a part in getting us to our goal?
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          2                 MR. AGGARWALA:  It will certainly

          3  play a sizeable role.  New York City operations, if

          4  you include government broadly speaking and NYCHA

          5  and CUNY, and the transit system and various other

          6  agencies not directly controlled by the City but

          7  nonetheless represented by NYPA in its power

          8  purchasing, represents roughly 15 percent of the

          9  electricity consumed in New York.  It's probably

         10  slightly less in the heating and other non-

         11  electricity fuels consumption.  And it's probably

         12  significantly less in transportation fuel.

         13                 So we might estimate, and I don't

         14  know yet, but we might estimate that maybe 8

         15  possibly 10 percent of the City's carbon footprint

         16  is due to government operations, which means that

         17  any carbon plan would have to think about what one

         18  does in 10 percent of the footprint.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  And how

         20  will City agencies be involved in achieving this

         21  goal?  What kind of measures do you think that

         22  agencies will have to take and City government will

         23  have to take to get these reductions?

         24                 MR. AGGARWALA:  Well I think they'll

         25  probably parallel the same kinds of things that we
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          2  would seek to have the entire City due.  If 60

          3  percent of our carbon comes from fuel used either

          4  directly or indirectly by buildings, clearly we need

          5  to make our buildings more efficient.

          6                 Clearly, we need to make our energy

          7  supply less carbon intensive.  If 30 percent are

          8  from transportation fuels, we need to do whatever we

          9  can to get government to rely more on transit and

         10  less on autos to improve the fuel efficiency of the

         11  City's fleet.

         12                 And the methane, of course, is

         13  something that is at least under something of the

         14  City's control even if the City has not direct

         15  control over how much water you and I use in our

         16  homes, we have the power to influence it.  So

         17  whether it's water conservation or waste management,

         18  recycling, all of that plays a role.

         19                 We are still working out the details

         20  of a City operations plan for carbon reduction.  So

         21  I don't know specifically what we'll do, but those

         22  are the general contours.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  How will

         24  your office take steps to insure that measures are

         25  taken by various agencies to implement these
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          2  actions?  And how will your office play a role

          3  there?  How will that work?

          4                 MR. AGGARWALA:  Well, I think that

          5  the details of how my office interacts with that is

          6  something that we'd still be working out right now

          7  after we figure out what the actions must be, then

          8  how they get implemented and who keeps track of

          9  them.

         10                 I think I probably mentioned in

         11  September when I was last before your Committee that

         12  one of the reasons that the Mayor and the Deputy

         13  Mayor chose to put my office within the Office of

         14  Operations is that what Operations does is track

         15  City performance. So the idea that somehow this

         16  needs to be trackable, and that's true not only for

         17  this goal, but also for our progress towards all ten

         18  of our goals in the plan is clearly something that

         19  is front and center in our minds.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  What

         21  role would you envision the City Council playing to

         22  make sure that this goal is achieved other than

         23  asking me to make less speeches and that kind of

         24  thing?

         25                 MR. AGGARWALA:  I think, as I've
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          2  said, and we've discussed on many occasions, I think

          3  the implementation of this plan will require

          4  probably some legislative actions and your oversight

          5  in making sure that we are achieving our goals will

          6  also be crucial.  Exactly what it is is something

          7  that we will learn as we develop the plan, and we'll

          8  do that together.

          9                 But the City Council has a lot of say

         10  over building codes, has a lot of say over

         11  transportation policy, has a lot of say over

         12  sanitation and waste water, and if we need to take

         13  steps to change the way the City as a whole and City

         14  agencies do those things, then those will inevitably

         15  involve the Council's partnership.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         17  Certainly we would have an interest in, where

         18  possible, to crystalize these initiatives in the

         19  form of local laws that will succeed this Council,

         20  succeed the Bloomberg Administration, and make sure

         21  that these are in place for all time.  So we're

         22  ready for that and ready to work with you.  Let me

         23  see if I have more questions for you.

         24                 Okay.  To what extent have you

         25  reached out to organizations and other entities that
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          2  are not on the Sustainability Advisory Board

          3  regarding this goal and the other goals included in

          4  the Sustainability initiative?

          5                 MR. AGGARWALA:  Well, as part of the

          6  overall sustainability process, the PLANYC process,

          7  we have been doing, and we are still in the midst of

          8  doing, a pretty significant outreach effort.  That's

          9  involved meeting, and I don't know what the number

         10  is off- hand but it's at least 75 if not more other

         11  advocacy groups on various topics ranging from

         12  environmental issues to housing and parks and what

         13  have you.  They are not represented on the Advisory

         14  Board but address those topics to have conversations

         15  about what their ideas are, what their concerns are.

         16    That was something that we even started as we were

         17  beginning to develop the goals and it continues now

         18  as we begin to develop the plan.

         19                 In addition, as you know, and I was

         20  grateful for you joining us the other night in

         21  Queens, we are right now in the middle of a series

         22  of outreach meetings to community leaders and

         23  neighborhood leaders in all five boroughs.  We were

         24  in Staten Island last night.  We were in upper

         25  Manhattan the night before, Queens on Tuesday night.
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          2    We'll be in the Bronx and we've got another

          3  Manhattan meeting coming next week, and in Brooklyn

          4  the week before.  And that will be followed up with

          5  a series of public meetings on all of these same

          6  topics.  I think those meetings thus far have been

          7  very well received.

          8                 I think it's a very exciting thing to

          9  engage with New York community leaders and with

         10  members of the public on how they'd advise that we

         11  solve these problems.  And our website, of course,

         12  has gotten I think the last number is 26,000 hits in

         13  the first month.  We've had over 12,000 unique

         14  visitors.  We've received over 2,000 e- mails with

         15  suggestions.  So I think it's a pretty exciting

         16  effort.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That's real

         18  interest, which is great.  Let's talk a little more

         19  about the next wave of outreach. As you said, I was

         20  happy to be at the one in Queens with the Queens

         21  community leaders.  Now the next round, as you

         22  mentioned, will be public meetings, not invite only,

         23  kind of situation.  Will they be one per borough,

         24  several per borough?  What's your vision for how

         25  that will unfold?
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          2                 MR. AGGARWALA:   I think it will

          3  certainly start out as one per borough, and then

          4  we've also been working with some of the groups on

          5  the Advisory Board to arrange other kinds of

          6  meetings and presentations where we get the word out

          7  and get the ideas in. I don't know.  Do we know

          8  exactly when that will start?  We're still working

          9  on finalizing dates.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Will those be

         11  in a month or in two months?  What's the time table?

         12    Or would they  necessarily be before the release

         13  of the plan?

         14                 MR. AGGARWALA:  Exactly, so we're

         15  rushing to get them nailed down ideally for

         16  February.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  How will

         18  economic development and environmental justice

         19  concerns be spoken to in the context of achieving

         20  the goal?  I know that environmental justice has

         21  been a focus of your office's efforts and of the

         22  Board.  I was wondering how environmental justice

         23  and economic development concerns will be addressed

         24  in the context of getting us to this goal?

         25                 MR. AGGARWALA:  Well, my boss' title
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          2  is all about economic development, and so economic

          3  development is certainly front and center.  As I

          4  mentioned, I think we are firmly convinced that the

          5  economic development success of New York City is

          6  itself an environmental goal because we are such an

          7  efficient place and, increasingly, and, in fact,

          8  we're trying to do the research to make sure I'm

          9  right, but I'm pretty confident the most

         10  environmentally sound decision an American can make

         11  is to move to New York City. The most

         12  environmentally sound decision a company can make is

         13  to move to New York City.  So I think that's an

         14  important thing to say up front.  And as you know

         15  environmental justice concerns are very well

         16  represented on the Advisory Board and certainly

         17  something we take seriously.

         18                 From my point of view though, and I

         19  think one of the most powerful aspects of thinking

         20  about sustainability is that it brings with it so

         21  many things naturally.

         22                 So, for example, if we are going to,

         23  and this is a different goal not the subject of this

         24  hearing, but if we are going to reduce air pollution

         25  so that we achieve our goal of having the cleanest
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          2  air of any big city in America, necessarily that

          3  means we look at those hot spots of where pollution

          4  is concentrated today. Which means that whether we

          5  like it or not, environmental justice concerns must

          6  be addressed.

          7                 Similarly, if it's carbon, whether

          8  it's about truck or automobile fuel consumption,

          9  green buildings, what have you, and power plants, of

         10  course, which is a big deal, and I know we've spent

         11  a lot of time talking about powerplants because they

         12  address carbon and our energy supply and air

         13  pollution.  Anything we do to improve our power

         14  supply has economic development benefits because we

         15  need that electricity.  It has economic development

         16  benefits as well as carbon benefits because if we're

         17  more efficient, not only does our carbon footprint

         18  go down, but our costs will go down.  And it has

         19  environmental justice benefits because the

         20  neighborhoods that have those power plants will

         21  benefit from cleaner air.

         22                 So I think all of that comes as a

         23  result of doing this.  I think that that's one of

         24  the reasons that this is such a powerful way of

         25  going about it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure, that's an

          3  interesting perspective.  It's almost by definition

          4  we're going to have achievements in the

          5  environmental justice area because that's where the

          6  hot spots are.

          7                 MR. AGGARWALA:  That's right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It's sort of

          9  like the Willy Sutton School of Environmental

         10  Sustainability.  It's where the money is.  Willy

         11  Sutton was a famous bank robber.  Most people know

         12  that.  With that said, Rohit, I just want to thank

         13  you again on the record, in a very public way for

         14  your leadership, your dedication, the hard work that

         15  your super excellent staff does, day in and day out.

         16    It's been a pleasure to work with you guys, and

         17  it's only the beginning.  It's a wonderful process,

         18  and I'm glad the Mayor put it forward.  I'm glad he

         19  brought you and your team on board.  We're going to

         20  do good things.  Thank you.  We appreciate very much

         21  having you here today.

         22                 MR. AGGARWALA:  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay. The next

         24  panel is made up of two good friends of mine, Kathy

         25  Wylde of the Partnership for New York City and Andy
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          2  Darrell of Environmental Defense.  And two members

          3  of the Environmental Sustainability Board.

          4                 Kathy, Andy, thank you for being

          5  here.  We always appreciate being with you.  Donna

          6  De Costanzo will give the oath. Then I'll say a

          7  little more, and then you can start your testimony.

          8                 COUNSEL DE COSTANZO:  Please raise

          9  your right hand. In the testimony that you are about

         10  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,

         11  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         12                 MS. WYLDE:  Yes.

         13                 MR. DARRELL: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I want to thank

         15  you both for serving on the Sustainability Board.

         16  I've had the opportunity to, of course, work with

         17  you folks in other areas, and it's been very

         18  gratifying and we certainly appreciate it.  And I

         19  know Kathy that you have a time commitment, so if we

         20  drone on here, we're sensitive to your time

         21  constraints if you have to leave at any time that's

         22  fine.  I also want to thank you for this, and we'll

         23  talk more about that.  Kathy, please.

         24                 MS. WYLDE:  Okay.  Thank you,

         25  Chairman Gennaro. We're delighted to be able to be
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          2  here on behalf of the City's largest employers and

          3  major business leaders to really support the 30

          4  percent carbon emissions goal that's been

          5  established and set by the PLANYC 2030 program.

          6                 Many of our members have been active

          7  in countries around the world that have initiated

          8  and been successful with carbon emissions

          9  restrictions and that are actively leading the

         10  international struggle against global warming.  And

         11  they're happy to have an opportunity to bring some

         12  best practices, their expertise and experience here

         13  to New York City and work in partnership with the

         14  Council and the Administration on this program.  So

         15  we look forward to a very strong public/private

         16  initiative in this regard.

         17                 In addition, as Rohit mentioned in

         18  the City's testimony, the fact that they are looking

         19  closely at the economic development opportunities

         20  that are connected with this new generation of

         21  activities are important.  In particular, obviously,

         22  as the financial center of the world we're very

         23  interested in the opportunities associated with

         24  carbon trading and that under both the City's goal

         25  and the REGI agreement and hopefully more active and
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          2  aggressive participation in the carbon emissions

          3  field that New York City will, in fact, develop a

          4  major role in an industry that has the potential to

          5  create significant jobs and to reinforce our

          6  leadership in the financial sector.

          7                 In addition, as you point out, we

          8  have just published a report on the clean tech

          9  sector, which is a new industry sector that's really

         10  emerging that includes alternative fuels and solar

         11  heating and technology that is associated with

         12  reverse of climate change and environmental

         13  conservation.

         14                 New York State has actually been a

         15  leader and New York City, as Rick pointed out,

         16  because of our built- in transportation system, our

         17  early incentives to encourage green buildings at the

         18  State level, and the work that NYSERDA has done to

         19  encourage purchase of the right refrigerators, et

         20  cetera.

         21                 We've been very good on encouraging

         22  and incentivizing the consumption sign.  We've been

         23  much less aggressive on the economic development

         24  side and, in fact, we are behind the rest of the

         25  country and the world when it comes to incentives

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  for the production.

          3                 So we're big consumers of products

          4  that are being designed and developed in other

          5  states and other countries.  We think that that

          6  should change, especially through a good

          7  downstate/upstate partnership where we take

          8  advantage of the latent manufacturing capacity

          9  upstate and really put both investment from New York

         10  City marketing R & D efforts, work with our

         11  universities and begin to develop a real industry

         12  here.  We have several companies that are already

         13  here in the City, and we think much more can be done

         14  in this area.

         15                 In addition, we think that New York

         16  City can have a strong position internationally, and

         17  in May we're joining with the City to put together a

         18  host meeting where we hope the Mayors of 40 world

         19  cities and their business leaders will be coming for

         20  a global climate summit to New York City.  That's in

         21  the planning stages. We already have very excellent

         22  response from leaders of the largest cities around

         23  the world.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Can I come?

         25                 MS. WYLDE:  Well, I would think so.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Thank

          3  you.

          4                 MS. WYLDE:  As the Chairman of our

          5  Environmental Committee.

          6                 So we're hoping that we can again

          7  really establish a platform where the City is

          8  showing international leadership and taking

          9  advantage of the experience of those who, because

         10  their communities, particularly in the European

         11  union where there's been a strong mandate on carbon

         12  emissions for a long time, they are well ahead of us

         13  in establishing some of these goals.

         14                 So we're hoping that we can really

         15  establish New York City as an international leader

         16  and take a role in bringing the U.S. Into a global

         17  partnership.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         19  Kathy.  I'm going to have some questions about your

         20  stand.  We just want to hear from Andy.  Are you

         21  okay?

         22                 MS. WYLDE:  Fine.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I also forgot

         24  to mention that the witnesses will be on a five

         25  minute clock.  I don't know how to tell Kathy, but
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          2  I'll tell Andy that.  I was so polite.  Okay, Andy.

          3                 MR. DARRELL:  Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman, for convening this Hearing and giving us

          5  the opportunity to testify today.

          6                 On behalf of Environmental Defense,

          7  our 400,000 members around the country, our 50,000

          8  members here in New York State, we strongly support

          9  the City moving forward on all fronts to achieve the

         10  climate reduction target that the Mayor set out on

         11  December 12th.

         12                 As you know, the City Council and the

         13  Mayor have, over the last few years, already begun

         14  to take some steps to move toward measures that will

         15  help reduce carbon emissions and air pollution in

         16  New York City from the bill that was passed to the

         17  raft of measures that address emissions for motor

         18  vehicles.

         19                 These are all important steps

         20  forward, but clearly an enormous amount still needs

         21  to be done to achieve that target.

         22                 I just want to address briefly the

         23  broad consensus that is arising in the recycling

         24  business community around the need for action on

         25  climate change.  Just to give you an example of
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          2  something that was announced earlier this week, a

          3  remarkable partnership, a coalition between business

          4  and environmental leaders nationwide calling on

          5  their federal government to enact a national cap and

          6  trade system that would achieve a national, economy-

          7  wide 60 to 80 percent emissions reduction by 2050.

          8  I think the 30 percent goal is being announced here

          9  as fully consistent with that 20/50 goal.

         10                 But the fact that companies by BP

         11  America, Caterpillar, Duke Energy, DuPont, General

         12  Electric, Lehman Brothers, PG&E, PNM Resources, came

         13  together with groups like Environmental Defense and

         14  NRDC, the Pew Center on Global Climate Change and

         15  World Resources Institute to jointly call for that

         16  kind of action at the national level, I think, is an

         17  extraordinary step forward and just reinforces the

         18  really, what I see as the opportunity for New York

         19  City and New York City's economy to take the lead in

         20  bringing the nation toward a low carbon economy.

         21                 The agreement that those groups -- I

         22  set out on Monday, and I handed in a copy of that

         23  for you, is built around six principles.  I just

         24  want to focus on three of those today as potentially

         25  guiding ideas for what the City does on climate.
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          2                 The first, and this is maybe kind of

          3  obvious, is to be in -- what that really means

          4  though is that it highlights the importance of

          5  bearing out really, quantifiable emissions

          6  reductions and tackling emissions really at their

          7  source, at the utilities, at the businesses and in

          8  the transportation sector.

          9                 So, for example, when measures like

         10  energy efficiency are introduced, it's important to

         11  do that in partnership with the utilities so that as

         12  buildings become more energy efficient, we can

         13  quantify the actual emission reductions from the

         14  smoke stacks that are generating the electricity to

         15  serve those buildings.

         16                 Second is to create economic

         17  opportunity and advantage.  Kathy mentioned her

         18  clean tech report, and I think that's exactly the

         19  kind of opportunity that we see here in New York,

         20  downstate and upstate where New York really has

         21  remarkable opportunity to take the lead in creating

         22  the model for how a low carbon economy can become

         23  the way of the future for the country.

         24                 What that means for City government

         25  is that there needs to be a real focus on bringing
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          2  the private sector to the table as partners in this

          3  effort to cut the emissions.  That means that every

          4  tax and financial incentive offered to developers,

          5  every zoning rule, every regulatory permit, every

          6  transportation investment, every procurement

          7  decision, all these actions that shape what the

          8  private sector do, needs to be brought into the fold

          9  and aligned with the 30 percent climate reduction.

         10                 At the same time we need to be

         11  thinking about new financial mechanisms to attract

         12  green tech investments and to think about ways, for

         13  example, that companies who would want to take the

         14  lead now and go carbon neutral can invest in carbon

         15  offsets right here in New York City to help green

         16  the City as they try to green their own companies.

         17                 The third principle is to be fair.

         18  We talked about environmental justice, and I think

         19  there are tremendous opportunities to bring the

         20  technological and economic benefits of acclimate

         21  reduction strategy to all the neighborhoods in the

         22  City.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  Are

         24  you done, Andy?

         25                 MR. DARRELL:  I have a four- page

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  document that I handed in to you.  It's quite a bit,

          3  but I'm happy to be done for this purpose.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  This is

          5  why it's great to be alive in 2007.  When I started

          6  in this business 20 something years ago, or whatever

          7  it was, studying about environmental protection and

          8  environmental activism, those were the days when

          9  environmentalists had daggers drawn with people from

         10  the business community and all that.  We have the

         11  biggest business group in the City putting out green

         12  tech and figuring out all the wonderful business

         13  opportunities that come from people doing good

         14  things and wanting to make the planet a better

         15  place.

         16                 We've got Mr. Krup (phonetic) right

         17  from the head of our organization getting together

         18  with all these business folks, and business folks

         19  coming to the table saying, look, we want to be part

         20  of the solution too.  And who would have thought

         21  that we'd be having this kind of paradigm now, and

         22  it's wonderful.

         23                 Kathy and I, we're already going to

         24  be getting together to talk about how we can move

         25  clean tech forward or whatever role I can play
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          2  because, from where I sit, these things happen and

          3  happen in a good way.  When the business sector

          4  partners with government, and it partners with the

          5  environmental community, everybody is on the same

          6  page going in the same direction.

          7                 I don't really have formal questions

          8  other than to commend you both for what you're

          9  doing, not only within the Board for the

         10  Sustainability which you've both made great

         11  contributions, but what you're doing outside that

         12  with clean tech, and, Andy, what your organization

         13  is doing with these business leaders.

         14                 So I'm just so heartened by what's

         15  going on here that it's just truly wonderful.  I

         16  want to thank you both for being here.  We'll talk

         17  soon about clean tech.  I've read about Mr. Krup

         18  going out there and doing all that.  I want to get a

         19  better handle on your perspectives on all that,

         20  Andy.  I would welcome the opportunity to do that.

         21  I thank you both very much for being here, and I

         22  look forward to partnering with you as you go

         23  forward. Thanks again.  I appreciate it.

         24                 The next witness is Chris Garvin of

         25  Cook and Fox Architects and Alison Hirsh of New York
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          2  League of Conservation Voters.  I will point out

          3  that both of those organizations were on the

          4  Sustainability Advisory Board, which we'll just call

          5  the SAB for the rest of the hearing, so save my

          6  tonsils a little bit in trying to say

          7  sustainability, but anyway, the SAB.

          8                 So, Chris and Alison, we're happy to

          9  have you with us today.  Donna will give you the

         10  oath, and then you can proceed with your statements.

         11    Donna.

         12                 COUNSEL DE COSTANZO:  Please raise

         13  your right hand. In the testimony that you are about

         14  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,

         15  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         16                 (Witnesses sworn)

         17                 COUNSEL DE COSTANZO: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you both.

         19    Who's going to go first, Chris or Alison?  Chris

         20  is such a gentleman.

         21                 MS. HIRSH:  Good morning, Chairman

         22  Gennaro.  Thank you for giving me the opportunity to

         23  testify this morning.  My name is Alison Hirsh, and

         24  I am the Policy and Advocacy Director for the New

         25  York League of Conservation Voters.
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          2                 I would like to just begin by quickly

          3  commending the Chairman and Speaker Quinn for

          4  holding this important Hearing.  As you know, we've

          5  been involved in the sustainability process at the

          6  League for awhile now, and really any long term

          7  sustainability plan must be crafted with the input

          8  of City residents, environmental advocates, business

          9  leaders and elected officials.  The Administration

         10  is doing a good job by reaching out across and

         11  around the boroughs and around the City, but this

         12  Hearing provides another important opportunity for

         13  stake holders to become part of the planning

         14  process.

         15                 As we move deeper into the 21st

         16  century, we are faced with environmental challenges

         17  that cannot be ignored.  First and foremost the

         18  global climate is changing at an ever quickening

         19  pace.  Though climate change is a global issue as

         20  mentioned earlier, it has real local consequences,

         21  and therefore we must develop local solutions.

         22                 The Mayor's goal of lowering

         23  emissions by over 30 percent by 2030 can and must be

         24  accomplished by taking bold steps, including

         25  changing fuel emission standards, investing in
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          2  renewable energy and promoting green development.

          3  Additionally, it is important that we think

          4  strategically about all future development. If our

          5  City is to grow and maintain its economic vitality,

          6  we must build smart communities, communities that

          7  are built on remediated brown fields and that have

          8  ample open space, communities that link residents to

          9  clean and beautiful waterways, and that make our

         10  existing public transportation and solid waste

         11  infrastructures even stronger.

         12                 Over the past few years, the City

         13  Council has passed some important legislation such

         14  as Local Law 86 and the 20- Year Solid Waste

         15  Management Plan, which will do wonders to encourage

         16  sustainable and environmentally friendly

         17  development.  With the launch of PLANYC 2030, Mayor

         18  Bloomberg has built upon these successes to embark

         19  on a comprehensive long- term planning process that,

         20  if implemented properly, will mitigate the many

         21  environmental, economic and infrastructure

         22  challenges that lay ahead.

         23                 But for the Mayor's long- term plan

         24  to be viable, concrete legislative and regulatory

         25  action steps must be taken this year.  Next week,
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          2  the Education Fund of the New York League of

          3  Conservation Voters will be releasing its 2007

          4  Sustainability Agenda for New York City.  This

          5  report is a product of extensive consultation with

          6  advocates from the environmental, transportation and

          7  public health communities.  It presents 40 detailed

          8  action steps in seven areas that can and should be

          9  achieved in 2007 to advance the Mayor's agenda.

         10                 Some of these actions involve

         11  ensuring regulations for existing legislation such

         12  as the air quality bills of 2005. Some entail

         13  implementation steps of approved plans, such as the

         14  solid waste management plan, while others involve

         15  building on past successes, such as the development

         16  of green markets.

         17                 More specifically, they include

         18  releasing inventories of the carbon footprint of

         19  both the City government and the City as a whole, as

         20  Rich mentioned they were working on; putting forward

         21  a plan including funding commitments for how the

         22  City will achieve its 30 percent reduction in the

         23  carbon footprint prior to the 2030 deadline;

         24  providing incentives to developers to build green;

         25  creating a detailed congestion relief plan and
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          2  commit to its implementation; add five retail

          3  farmers markets in 2007; and promulgating the

          4  necessary regulations for over a dozen laws, to name

          5  a few.

          6                 We would love the opportunity to sit

          7  down with you, Councilman Gennaro, and your staff to

          8  discuss the report in more detail prior to its

          9  release next week.  Thank you again for giving me

         10  the opportunity to testify today, and I look forward

         11  to working with you to make sustainable New York a

         12  reality.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         14  Alison.  I'll get to you in a moment with some

         15  questions and comments.  First, we want to hear from

         16  Chris.

         17                 MR. GARVIN:  Thank you.  Good

         18  morning.  My name is Chris Garvin.  I'm an associate

         19  at Cook+Fox Architects and also a Board member of

         20  the New York Chapter of the U.S. Green Building

         21  Council.  Thank you for this opportunity to testify

         22  regarding the City's PLANYC 2030 and in particular

         23  the goal of reducing global warming emissions by

         24  more than 30 percent.

         25                 In the past two months, amazing
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          2  things have been happening around the world.

          3  Governor Schwartzenegger has committed California,

          4  the seventh largest economy in the world, to reduce

          5  its emissions back to 2000 levels in the next three

          6  years.  The European Union's Emissions Trading

          7  Scheme is requiring 20 percent reductions of

          8  emissions from 1990 levels.  And just last week 18

          9  multi- national corporations, including GE, Duke

         10  Energy and Siemens, have formed a Combat Climate

         11  Change Initiative to create a global framework to

         12  create "commercial solutions, technological

         13  development, and market based initiatives" to

         14  address climate change.

         15                 These corporations have identified

         16  climate change as a threat to their long term

         17  business vitality and a market opportunity for

         18  growth.  The City of New York can seize this same

         19  opportunity with strong leadership.

         20                 The goal of reducing New York City's

         21  global warming emissions by a minimum of 30 percent

         22  while adding an additional one million residents is

         23  not good enough.  If we plan to have a measurable

         24  effect on climate change in our lifetime, in my

         25  estimation this goal would only be mitigating the
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          2  effect of the projected additional population of the

          3  City and by no means addresses the common scientific

          4  consensus that we must reverse greenhouse gas

          5  emissions to pre- 1990 levels to have a measurable

          6  effect on climate change in our lifetime.

          7                 The Kyoto Protocol is based upon a

          8  baseline of 1990 emission levels and recent reports

          9  from the UN's forthcoming IPCC 4th Assessment that

         10  more aggressive actions must be taken to address the

         11  atmospheric build- up of the past 150 years of human

         12  based carbon emissions.  Therefore, the City's goal

         13  should be carbon neutrality, which would match the

         14  U.S. Conference of Mayor's goals, and we should

         15  pioneer the mechanisms for reaching this goal,

         16  thereby creating the next industrial revolution, the

         17  green revolution, in the greatest city in the world.

         18                 There are many ways to begin

         19  addressing this goal, and many have already been

         20  mentioned.  Implementing a green, high performance

         21  building law for all new construction; developing a

         22  comprehensive strategy to conserve our energy

         23  resources; improve existing power plant

         24  efficiencies; developing a clean distributed power

         25  throughout the region; educating the tradesmen and
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          2  professionals in all energy and building related

          3  professions; improving the energy efficiency and

          4  capacity of the mass transit system; revising the

          5  State Energy Code to include renovations to existing

          6  buildings; developing a green industry in the City

          7  to provide superior services and products; and

          8  upgrading vehicular fuel efficiency standards in the

          9  state, just to name a few.

         10                 Each of these elements has a clear

         11  measurable benefit to reducing greenhouse gas

         12  emissions.  Improving the security of the City's

         13  energy supply and improving the quality of life of

         14  New Yorkers.  With all these measures stated, we

         15  still haven't addressed the one million existing

         16  buildings in the City, buildings constructed to out-

         17  of- date codes, improperly maintained heating

         18  systems, and poorly insulated leaky envelopes.

         19  These buildings are not only wasteful of precious

         20  resources, they also negatively impact the health

         21  and quality of life of millions of people.  This may

         22  be the single largest opportunity for the City, to

         23  upgrade the existing building stock to a new

         24  standard of energy efficiency and quality.

         25                 Using existing models to protect
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          2  public health, such as Local Law 10, for building

          3  facade repairs, and the City's new requirement for

          4  photo- luminescent markings in stairwells, the City

          5  can and should require the upgrading of building

          6  envelopes, lighting systems and mechanical systems

          7  of existing buildings. This is truly low hanging

          8  fruit from which the City can prosper, address

          9  global warming and simultaneously improve air

         10  quality and human health throughout the City.

         11                 A possible structure for such

         12  legislation would require building owners of larger

         13  than 25,000 square feet, which is approximately 58

         14  percent of the City's existing building stock, to

         15  commission building energy audits and submit a three

         16  year plan to upgrade these buildings to exceed the

         17  existing State energy code by a minimum of 20

         18  percent.

         19                 More generally, the City must build

         20  public support for local action on global warming by

         21  communicating the direct positive effects of these

         22  initiatives will have on citizens, leveraging the

         23  clout of its pension funds, the Economic Development

         24  Corporation, and the world's largest financial

         25  institutions.  The City should support green growth
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          2  in new businesses and new jobs in our City that are

          3  innovative in their approach to these challenges.

          4  PLANYC must include incentives to stimulate

          5  development and commercialization of low carbon

          6  technologies.  Together we must forge policies and

          7  facilitate the widespread adoption and affordability

          8  of clean energy and technologies for all New

          9  Yorkers.

         10                 And to close, I would like to quote

         11  the famous visionary 19th century architect, Daniel

         12  Burnham:  "Make no small plans.  They have no magic

         13  to stir humanity's blood and probably themselves

         14  will never be realized.  Make big plans.  Aim high

         15  and hope and work remembering that a noble, logical

         16  plan, once recorded will never die, but long after

         17  we are gone, will be a living thing, asserting

         18  itself with ever- growing insistency.  Remember that

         19  our sons and daughters are going to do things that

         20  will stagger us. Let your watchword be order and

         21  your beacon beauty.  Think big." Thank you for your

         22  time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Amen.  Thank

         24  you.  We're joined by Council Member Melissa Mark-

         25  Viverito, a valued member of the Committee.  Thank
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          2  you for being here.

          3                 Alison, I read with interest your

          4  statement about the 2007's sustainability agenda for

          5  New York City.  You mentioned that it's coming out

          6  when?

          7                 MS. HIRSH:  We're hoping to release

          8  it towards the end of next week.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  We

         10  should get together.

         11                 MS. HIRSH:  Definitely.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You said that.

         13  We would love the opportunity to sit down with you,

         14  and your staff.

         15                 MS. HIRSH:  It's on the record.  I

         16  affirmed to it before I spoke.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You swore to

         18  it, affirm, swore, whatever.  And, yes, I'm

         19  directing staff to get me together with the League

         20  to talk about that.  Also, for those members of the

         21  audience that don't know, although many probably do,

         22  it was the League of Conservation Voters that really

         23  worked very hard to talk to Mayor Bloomberg to have

         24  this be a prime focus of his Administration and,

         25  again, as Mayor there are only so many huge
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          2  initiatives that you can take on.

          3                 The Mayor is constantly being

          4  approached by people who have wonderful ideas, and

          5  to his credit, took the bait and really ran with it.

          6    I'd like to thank the League and thank Marcia

          7  Bistron (phonetic) who is really a great advocate

          8  for sustainability, and once again, is using this

          9  great organization to move things forward.  Alison,

         10  so we'll be talking to the League for you guys

         11  release, so that's great.

         12                 Chris, I want to thank you for your

         13  personal participation on the Board, and please say

         14  hi to Bob for me.  Some of things covered by your

         15  statement here are things that we already have some

         16  legislative items that we already have in the hopper

         17  that sort of draw on some of these ideas.

         18                 It is for sure that you will be

         19  joining us in future hearings to see to what extent

         20  our legislative initiatives are consistent with some

         21  of the good ideas that you seek to advance with this

         22  testimony.  Thank you both for being here, and it

         23  looks like we're going to be seeing a lot more of

         24  each other as sustainability rolls down the tracks.

         25  Alison, we'll be seeing you in a couple of days, it
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          2  would seem.  Thank you.

          3                 We're joined by Councilman Bill

          4  DeBlasio from Brooklyn, and Councilman Peter Vallone

          5  from Queens.

          6                 Let me call the next panel, Jason

          7  Babbie from NYPIRG, Peter Kostmayer from Citizens

          8  for New York, and Robert Crauderueff, I hope I'm

          9  saying that right, from Sustainable South Bronx.

         10  What we'll do is, we'll put the panel together.

         11  Donna will give you the oath.  I have to walk next

         12  door for about 60 seconds just to check in with the

         13  Chairman over there.  I'm actually supposed to be in

         14  this Hearing at the same time, so I just have to go

         15  inside next door and wave hi, so I'll be right back.

         16                 COUNSEL DE COSTANZO:  Please raise

         17  your right hand. In the testimony that you are about

         18  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         19  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         20                 (Witnesses sworn)

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay. Sorry for

         22  that. I had to check in at the hearing next door.

         23  Why don't we go from my right to my left.  Peter.

         24                 MR. KOSTMAYER:  Mr. Chairman, thank

         25  you very much. Thank you for your leadership on this
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          2  issue and thank you for the opportunity testify.

          3  Chairman Gennaro, with your permission I'm not going

          4  to read my testimony.  I'm going to summarize.  I

          5  have just a couple of points to make

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That's fine.

          7  I'll take my glasses off.

          8                 MR. KOSTMAYER:  All right.  You heard

          9  some testimony earlier about the percentage of

         10  greenhouse gases coming from mobile sources, that

         11  is, traffic 30 percent.  We think it's substantially

         12  higher.  In fact, we think there is serious and

         13  substantial evidence which would indicate that

         14  mobile sources are the largest single source of

         15  greenhouse gases in New York City.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Wow, so that's

         17  a striking contrast to what we've heard.

         18                 MR. KOSTMAYER:  Well, it is a

         19  striking contrast, Mr. Chairman.  There is lots of

         20  room to disagree, and let me say that I'm not an

         21  expert on this particular, subject but there are

         22  lots of experts, and they can speak to it far better

         23  than I.  But we think it's a very substantial

         24  source.  We think it may be the most substantial

         25  source, and we also think it's growing faster than
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          2  any other source.

          3            So the point is, you can't get to these

          4  targets in 2030 unless you do something about

          5  traffic.  We think the traffic and traffic

          6  congestion, reducing traffic in New York City is the

          7  key. And we think the key to solving the traffic

          8  problem, and  this is controversial, is congestion

          9  pricing.  The key to congestion pricing is winning

         10  votes of members of Council from the outer boroughs.

         11

         12                 We can't do that unless we can make

         13  it clear to the people that you and your colleagues

         14  represent that there is something in this for them.

         15  That means dramatically improved transportation

         16  services in the City. It means express buses. It

         17  means bus rapid transit. It means where we're not

         18  going to build additional subway lines, other than

         19  obviously here in the Second Avenue, much better bus

         20  service, HOV lanes, Park and Ride.

         21                 I don't think that members of City

         22  Council from the Bronx and Queens and Brooklyn and

         23  Staten Island are going to vote for congestion

         24  pricing given the views of their constituents unless

         25  they and their constituents are convinced that it's
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          2  in their interest to do so.  And unless we're

          3  prepared to do something about traffic and take some

          4  fairly dramatic steps, as we did with smoking, and

          5  the Mayor deserves enormous credit for what he did.

          6  In my view, in smoking I know you share that, and

          7  for his leadership, we're not going to solve this

          8  problem.

          9                 So we need to be fairly prescriptive

         10  and fairly specific in recognizing that the key

         11  source in global gas house here in the City is

         12  automobiles, traffic vehicles.  It's growing

         13  dramatically, and we to deal with it very directly,

         14  and I think that's unpopular politically.  I think

         15  it's going to be very tough. But I don't see how we

         16  get to those targets unless we do that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         18  Peter.  You're very direct and concise and

         19  passionate.

         20                 Mr. KOSTMAYER:  Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Advocacy for

         23  your point of view.  Thank you.  Okay, Robert.

         24                 MR. CRAUDERUEFF:  Good morning.  My

         25  name is Rob Crauderueff, and I am Program
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          2  Coordinator for Sustainable Alternatives as

          3  Sustainable South Bronx.  On behalf of SSB, I would

          4  like to thank you for providing us the opportunity

          5  to share our thoughts and opinions regarding the

          6  City's goal for reducing climate change emissions by

          7  more than 30 percent in the next 25 years.

          8                 We are encouraged that the City has

          9  set ten significant goals as part as of its

         10  sustainability initiative.  As a community based

         11  environmental justice organization, we understand

         12  that climate change is one of the most pressing

         13  issues that our great City must address to ensure

         14  the long- term well being of all city residents.

         15                 We first recommend that the City seek

         16  to increase environmental equity through its climate

         17  change initiative. Working toward environmental

         18  equity will both make New York City a more

         19  sustainable and economically viable place in which

         20  we can all work, play and live.  The City could

         21  reduce the staggering public health costs of asthma,

         22  diabetes, and other costly public health problems by

         23  applying emission reduction strategies to

         24  overburdened environmental justice communities that

         25  contain a disproportion of environmental hazards,
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          2  such as power plants and sewage treatment

          3  facilities. I was encouraged to hear much talk of

          4  that earlier this morning and look forward to

          5  working with you toward the implementation of these

          6  ideas.

          7                 Sadly, it's not too surprising that

          8  these are also the same communities which lack

          9  environmental benefits that address climate change,

         10  such as air- cleansing street trees and well

         11  maintained grassy parks.

         12                 Second, we urge the City of New York

         13  to collaboratively engage all stakeholders in the

         14  process of both setting and implementing its climate

         15  change policies.  Such a process would facilitate

         16  the City in implementing and enforcing its plans,

         17  while potentially providing benefits to all New

         18  Yorkers.  In particular, community groups contain

         19  unique on- the- ground knowledge that would

         20  complement knowledge held by City officials,

         21  business leaders and other stakeholders.

         22                 Third, we recommend that the City

         23  create policies that simultaneously encourage a

         24  reduction in climate change emissions while also

         25  helping the City to adapt to a changing climate.
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          2  Columbia Earth Institute researchers anticipate that

          3  global climate change and related negative impacts

          4  will occur in New York City even if countries around

          5  the globe adopt and implement stronger environmental

          6  policies although these effects will be reduced if

          7  these strategies are taken.

          8                 For this reason, the City's climate

          9  change plan to reduce greenhouse gas emissions

         10  should also address projected sea level rise,

         11  summertime temperature increase, longer and hotter

         12  heat waves, increase in public health problems

         13  including worsened asthma symptoms and premature

         14  mortality, and other negative impacts. Because

         15  plants, from grass- covered parks to trees, bushes

         16  and green roofs, have been quantified to reduce

         17  energy use, act as carbon sinks, and mitigate

         18  multiple environmental problems such as stormwater

         19  runoff, and therefore addressing flooding problems,

         20  using plants strategically as green infrastructure

         21  should be a core element of the City's plan to

         22  reduce climate change emissions.

         23                 Fourth, the City should use its

         24  climate change emissions reduction goal to create

         25  economic opportunities for green- collar jobs.
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          2  We've heard much about this already.  Green

          3  industries such as green roof and solar panel

          4  installation are rapidly growing, and the City

          5  should encourage the growth of these emerging

          6  industries.

          7                 For example, in the Bronx the

          8  construction of an Eco- Industrial Park at the Oak

          9  Point site would use solid waste as a resource by

         10  recycling and making new products on- site, while

         11  reducing climate- change emitting trash truck trips,

         12  and creating approximately 355 well- paying jobs in

         13  the process.  This recycling park would therefore

         14  support the green building industry's increase in

         15  demand for locally- produced recycled products due

         16  to Local Law 86 and hopefully further initiatives as

         17  well.

         18                 Fifth, the plan needs to be

         19  quantifiable, timebound, and flexible enough such

         20  that the new and emerging technologies and

         21  strategies can be incorporated in the future.  City

         22  Council should seek to legislate climate change

         23  goals and initiatives to ensure that a plan lasts

         24  until 2030 and beyond.

         25                 In addition, Sustainable South
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          2  Bronx's recent memo to the Mayor, which was actually

          3  mailed this morning, outlines specific cost-

          4  effective policies and initiatives that the City can

          5  adopt to achieve the five above stated goals, which

          6  need the Council's support.  Implementing the

          7  recommendations can reduce emissions and provide

          8  realistic strategies for adaptation, while

          9  furthering the City's sustainability initiative in a

         10  holistic manner.

         11                 Thank you again to the Council for

         12  the opportunity to share our perspective.  We look

         13  forward to working with the Council on these

         14  initiatives in the future and would certainly enjoy

         15  the opportunity to discuss the initiatives set forth

         16  in our memo.  Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         18  Thank you, Robert. Jason, do you have a statement,

         19  Jason?  Do you have a written statement?

         20                 MR. BABBIE:  I don't. I can e- mail

         21  one.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's very

         23  sustainable of you. Make sure the microphone is on.

         24                 MR. BABBIE:  My name is Jason Babbie.

         25    I am Senior Environmental Policy Analyst for the
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          2  New York Public Interest Group NYPIRG.  I would like

          3  to start off by apologizing for not having a

          4  statement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I just

          6  complimented you for being the model of

          7  sustainability here.  It's all up here.

          8                 MR. BABBIE:  It's all up here.  In

          9  part working for a scrappy, non- partisan, non-

         10  profit organization.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We're the City

         12  Council.  We know about scrappy.

         13                 MR. BABBIE:  Exactly.  I would like

         14  to thank you and other Members of the Committee for

         15  the opportunity to testify here today.  We do

         16  support the initiative to reduce the City's

         17  greenhouse gas initiative.  I'm going to work from

         18  an older version of my testimony and sort of briefly

         19  go over things.  I won't go into the scientific

         20  reasons for doing this because that's very well

         21  established.

         22                 The regulatory framework for this,

         23  for controlling greenhouse gas emissions, is

         24  continually changing in this country. But I think

         25  that's all the more reason for the City to continue
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          2  to move forward.  I think that as a national leader

          3  it would be great for the City to take the post and

          4  provide concrete examples of what the nation and the

          5  state can continue to do to control for global

          6  climate change, particularly, given the fact that

          7  there is so much as stake in the City if we don't

          8  take action.

          9                 I think that one of the things that

         10  needs to happen, and I think it's great that we're

         11  having this hearing, is because the City Council

         12  particularly needs to action in order for many of

         13  these steps, as Rohit said, to be implemented in

         14  legislation.  And that's one of the things, because

         15  the City Council is going to change, the Mayor is

         16  going to change by the time we reach 2025.  So it

         17  would be good to legislate many of these efforts,

         18  and I think that we,  in fact, should legislate the

         19  cap in the reduction plan into law.

         20                 There are a couple of options, one of

         21  which would be a cap and trade program.  But given

         22  the size of New York City, that may or not work out

         23  as being a robust market.  So it may be better to

         24  set specific goals for specific target areas, such

         25  as electricity generation and some of the other
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          2  areas.

          3                 I think one of the interesting things

          4  about this initiative and the climate change program

          5  is it melds together so many other aspects of the

          6  plan.  When we talk about the desire to reduce

          7  greenhouse gas emissions, we're also talking about

          8  the aging fleet of power generators in New York

          9  City.  They are going to continue age and become

         10  really outdated.

         11                 We can address steps to modernize

         12  them to decrease their pollution, to increase their

         13  output.  To increase and put more people in mass

         14  transit and to address our air quality issues. I

         15  think that aside from the specific steps in setting

         16  a total cap, there is other programs that the City

         17  can take that would have multiple benefits, one of

         18  which is enhancing the state's energy efficiency

         19  programs.

         20                 New York State, of course, has

         21  through the New York State Research Development

         22  Authority or NYSRDA sets energy conservation and

         23  renewable programs to help consumers reduce their

         24  use and to green their use of electricity.

         25                 However, New York City is unique in
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          2  many respects, one of which is the multiple

          3  dwellings.  We have lots of folks, of course, that

          4  live in apartment buildings, not in single- family

          5  homes.  For many of the boroughs we have less

          6  affluent than the state average for the average

          7  household, so that needs to definitely be addressed.

          8    We need to look at how we're doing rebate programs

          9  to really get at some of the lower income

         10  communities and lower income households.

         11                 I think the City should move forward

         12  and require Energy Star appliances and high

         13  efficiency lighting for all rental buildings and all

         14  rental units and not pass that cost onto consumers.

         15  There is an interesting disparity, and this goes

         16  again with the problem with the SAIT program, which

         17  is to refund the one who puts it in, but there isn't

         18  an incentive for a landlord, necessarily to put in

         19  energy efficiency appliances which do cost a little

         20  more up front because the tenants are the ones who

         21  pay the electricity bill.

         22                 So there may be a program where also

         23  you are setting up an economic incentive and maybe a

         24  payback program for the landlords.  We're not

         25  necessarily always putting an undue burden on them
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          2  either.

          3                 We might want to increase the rebate

          4  program for energy efficient air conditioners.  It

          5  was a wildly successful program that NYSRDA did as a

          6  rebate program for energy efficient air

          7  conditioners.  In fact, they ran out of money, it

          8  was so successful.  So, we might want to supplement

          9  that here in the City. There are other initiatives

         10  that I could go into.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         12  Jason.  I guess working backwards, many of the ideas

         13  you've put forward here, Jason, we've done or tried

         14  to do.  But I think in the context of sustainability

         15  and trying to get done everything we need to get

         16  done we have to re- visit some of that stuff and put

         17  that forward because it is going to be difficult to

         18  meet the targets.  Peter's testimony about mobile

         19  sources, it's difficult to get to where we need to

         20  go to.  We have to make very hard choices, so we

         21  appreciate that.

         22                 With regard to your point, Jason,

         23  that we've got to crystalize as much of this in

         24  legislation as we possibly can.  That was a point I

         25  was making with Rohit, that we have to do that.  I

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  thank you for your support on that, that we have to

          3  do this as a bill.

          4                 Robert, with regard to environmental

          5  justice, I was heartened to see your organization so

          6  well represented in the panel discussion that the

          7  Mayor had at the December 12th event.  I thought

          8  that was great for your organization to be

          9  highlighted like that.  You can be sure that we

         10  continue to focus on issues of environmental justice

         11  here at the Council and to move that agenda forward.

         12    We thank you for that.

         13                 Peter, I want to thank you for being

         14  here and laying it out for us.  You did that very,

         15  very cogently.  Certainly one of the conversations

         16  we're going to have with Rohit and his team as to

         17  what is the apportionment of emissions between

         18  mobile sources, stationary sources, methane or

         19  whatever, we've got to look at that balance.  We've

         20  got to go where the money is.  I'd like to thank you

         21  all for being here.

         22                 Council Member Vallone has some

         23  questions, and I'll be back momentarily.  I'll turn

         24  the chair over to Peter in my absence.  Council

         25  Member Vallone.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair. Thank you for this Hearing first of all

          4   -- much calmer than the one I had two days ago, by

          5  the way, and also very important.  Thank you all for

          6  your suggestions.  It's very useful.  The one you

          7  just said at the end, Jason, about incentives for

          8  landlords to put in Energy Start.  I hadn't thought

          9  about that.  I'm not sure if we have here, yet but

         10  that's something that you just said that should be

         11  looked into.

         12                 Peter, you discussed congestion

         13  pricing, and you know there is opposition to that

         14  out in Queens.  I have not taken a position on it

         15  yet, and I believe the goal is obviously a very good

         16  one, which I support.  You mentioned clearly that

         17  there are areas that you recognize that are not

         18  properly served by mass transit and that would be

         19  hurt unless improvements are made.  We don't control

         20  the improvements so much.  We can yell and scream

         21  for better train service and things like that, but

         22  there's not all that much we can do about it here.

         23                 So if we were to consider congestion

         24  pricing before improvements were put in, or in

         25  anticipation of improvements, what could be done for
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          2  the people who are still forced to drive their cars?

          3    Do you support lower prices than exist now at

          4  certain times? Do you have any suggestions?

          5                 MR. KOSTMAYER:  Well, I do support

          6  those lower prices at peak times.  I went to a

          7  meeting the other night at Queens village.  It's way

          8  out there and it's very tough. You have to get to a

          9  bus which takes you to the F or the V line which

         10  brings you back into Manhattan.  I'm very

         11  sympathetic with people there. I think people there

         12  are having a very tough time getting in without

         13  their automobiles.  So I don't think you can do this

         14  unless you can convince them that there is something

         15  in it for them and those improvements are difficult

         16  and it's going to take some time. But I think better

         17  express bus service.

         18                 I think parking lots closer in.  I

         19  think all of those things you need to do, but we

         20  need to recognize that years ago we moved freight

         21  into the City by water and by rail.  We don't move

         22  freight by water and rail into New York City

         23  anymore.  It's all by truck, and trucks are a

         24  terrible, terrible problem.  I've heard you

         25  Councilwoman talk about this in a hearing last year
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          2  when you talked about trucks in your district.

          3                 We have to recognize these problems.

          4  But it's very, very tough politically.  I spent some

          5  time in politics myself and these are very tough

          6  political decisions.  I think the real problem with

          7  global warming and with congestion pricing in New

          8  York City are not technical or scientific problems.

          9  They are problems of public acceptance and political

         10  problems.  This is primarily a political problem not

         11  a technical problem.  We know the technical fixes.

         12  We know the scientific fixes.  This is in your

         13  world, in your jurisdiction, not with the scientist.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  True, but if

         15  we can't get past the political problem, we can't

         16  get to the good stuff.

         17                 MR. KOSMAYER:  That's right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  By the way,

         19  the new waste transfer plan that we voted on not too

         20  long ago does move tremendously away from trucks and

         21  to water, which is why the Chair and I supported it.

         22                 MR. KOSTMAYER:  You know, Councilman,

         23  if I could say one thing.  I live in the West

         24  Village.  I live near Gansevoort Pier and one of

         25  those garbage disposal sites was at Gansevoort Pier,
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          2  and my Councilperson, who is Chris Quinn, supported

          3  it publicly.  Our State Senator, our State

          4  Assemblyman, our U.S. Congressman all took the

          5  opposite position.  She was right.

          6                 And people who live in the West

          7  Village have to deal with our own trash.  It's not

          8  fair to send it to the Bronx.  And people who live

          9  in these areas are responsible for their own trash.

         10  She did the right thing.  She took a tough decision.

         11    All the public officials in that area opposed her.

         12    Community meanings opposed her.  She was looking

         13  after the interest of the City.  And that's really

         14  what this, if I may say Councilman, I shouldn't be

         15  telling you, but in my view, actually what your job

         16  is all about, making the tough decisions.  The other

         17  decisions, the easy ones, honoring the Boy Scouts,

         18  no problem.  These are the tough decisions which the

         19  Council has to make.  This is what the job is really

         20  all about, I think.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  This is why

         22  we respect our Speaker so much here.  And she did do

         23  the right thing, and we respect you for your

         24  position.  It's not easy to be in that district and

         25  support that.  We need to discuss power plants and
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          2  the fair distribution of those one day so that every

          3  neighborhood can produce its own power too.

          4                 MR. KOSTMAYER:  And your work,

          5  Councilman, on graffiti, very tough.  But you're

          6  absolutely right, it's a disaster.  To walk around

          7  this City, to see this stuff on the walls, housing,

          8  it's disgraceful.  The position you've taken, you've

          9  taken a lot of hits, a lot of criticism.  You've

         10  been persistent.  You've been courageous.

         11  Absolutely the right thing to do.  And I know you'll

         12  do the same thing on congestion pricing.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I'm not sure

         14  I want to stop you.  But we are a little off topic,

         15  so back on to congestion pricing.  Again, if there

         16  is someone who cannot take mass transit right now,

         17  how would structure it to help them?  To get them

         18  support congestion pricing?

         19                 MR. KOSTMAYER:  Well, some people are

         20  going to drive, and some people are going continue

         21  to drive into the City. In London 85 percent of the

         22  people who drive into London don't participate in

         23  this, they pay.  Only about 15 or 17 percent choose

         24  the other way.  So this doesn't prohibit people from

         25  driving into New York City.  It does make them pay
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          2  for it.  So anyone who lives in the other borough --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  You would

          4  support though, making them pay less at noon or at

          5   --

          6                 MR. KOSTMAYER:  Yes.   It's weekday.

          7  These are the details, and the devil is in the

          8  details.  We have to be careful, but basically this

          9  is weekday.  It stops about 5 or 6 o'clock in the

         10  afternoon, starts at 6 or 7 in the morning, and

         11  maybe you have an exemption for people who have no

         12  choice.  Maybe you have a hardship exemption for

         13  people who live far out in Eastern Queens and far

         14  out Brooklyn.  I think that's reasonable.

         15                 This has to be politically palatable

         16  and acceptable to those people, and if it imposes

         17  what really is an unfair burden on people through no

         18  fault of their own, then it shouldn't happen.      COUNCIL

         19  MEMBER VALLONE:  I think we've reached a common

         20  ground we can discuss.  That's very good.  I'm over

         21  my limit, and the Chair is back from his break so

         22  I'll turn it back over.  Thank you all for your

         23  suggestions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         25  Council member Vallone, and I wish to thank this
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          2  panel for all the issues that they've brought

          3  forward.  We appreciate it very much.  The next

          4  panel Anthony Pereira of Altpower, my friend Nancy

          5  Anderson from the Sallan Foundation, and David Burg

          6  from Wild Metro.

          7                 COUNSEL DE COSTANZO:  Please raise

          8  your right hand. In the testimony that you are about

          9  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth

         10  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         11                 (Witnesses sworn)

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It's a pleasure

         13  to have all of you here today.  Thank you for your

         14  patience.  Why don't we do from my right to my left.

         15    Nancy, that would be you, Nancy.

         16                 MS. ANDERSON:  Good afternoon.  I'm

         17  Nancy Anderson, Executive Director of the Sallan

         18  Foundation.  Our mission is advancing useful

         19  knowledge for a greener City.  I want to thank you

         20  for the opportunity to testify about PLANYC 2030,

         21  the goal of reducing global warming emissions by

         22  more than 30 percent and how best to achieve this in

         23  the context of a growing and thriving City.

         24  In the interest of time and lunch, I'm going to

         25  excerpt from my written remarks and compress my oral
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          2  testimony.

          3                 The goal of reducing New York City's

          4  global warming emissions by 30 percent while adding

          5  an additional one million residents is good, but not

          6  good enough.  Emission reduction targets must be set

          7  higher and wider given the PLANYC 23- year

          8  timeframe, as well as the need to slow down the rate

          9  at which the Earth is heating up.

         10                 The City's goal should be carbon

         11  neutrality, which would match the U.S. Conference of

         12  Mayor's goal, while creating the foundation on which

         13  to forge real, practical strategies for getting

         14  there.  In fact, the City is now undertaking a big

         15  step forward with the implementation of Local Law

         16  86, the Green Building Law. And I think it's fair to

         17  say that rollout of Local Law 86 should be

         18  identified and evaluated as the first major

         19  deliverable in Mayor Bloomberg's sustainable

         20  development initiative.  Remember it's the only part

         21  of his initiative that has the force of law. As

         22  such, all eyes will be on the impact and efficacy of

         23  this statute, now and for years to come.

         24                 The next giant step for New York City

         25  should be the passage of a comprehensive green, high
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          2  performance building law that would make green

          3  building into New York's new normal for every

          4  building.  A comprehensive green building law, like

          5  every other component to the 2030 plan, should

          6  advance specific actions for reducing global warming

          7  emissions in all public and private sectors, even as

          8  the City grows.

          9                 In fact, a green development plan

         10  will foster 21st Century economic development and

         11  job growth here at home keeping New York competitive

         12  in a world that's focusing on global warming.

         13                 Speaking more generally about

         14  elements of a successful PLANYC 2030, it must start

         15  now to build public support for local action on

         16  global warming, and that's part of why we're here

         17  today.  The City should use the clout of its pension

         18  funds as well as the programs of the Economic

         19  Development Corporation to support green growth in

         20  new business and new jobs in our City. PLANYC 2030

         21  should be performance based and include incentives

         22  to stimulate development and commercialization of

         23  low carbon technologies.

         24                 As well, the big picture projected in

         25  PLANYC 2030 must be translated into enforceable laws
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          2  and become integral elements of the City's Building

          3  Code and Zoning Resolution.  Mega projects like the

          4  rezoning and redevelopment of Manhattan's West Side,

          5  the rezoning of Greenpoint Williamsburg  waterfront,

          6  and the proposed Atlantic Yard project should have

          7  had high performance design built into their very

          8  bones.  These are major missed opportunities.

          9                 Looking ahead, PLANYC 2030 if it's

         10  worth the name must be able to ensure that all

         11  future mega- projects and rezonings are sustainable

         12  and adopt designs, technologies and operations that

         13  are geared to reducing global warming emissions, and

         14  here I role of the City Council is clear.

         15                 Let me conclude my remarks with this

         16  hope: Mayor Bloomberg uses the global platform of

         17  the May 2007 C 40 conference hosted right here in

         18  New York City to spell out how the Big Apple will

         19  become the Green Apple and how it will work with the

         20  other 39 cities in attendance here to save the

         21  planet.  Mr. Mayor, Council Members, how can we

         22  help?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We do Big Green

         24  Apple?  I don't want to get anybody mad at us.

         25                 MS. ANDERSON:  Sounds good.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          3  Nancy.  Anthony?

          4                 MR. PEREIRA:  Thank you for having us

          5  here today again, and it's always a pleasure to come

          6  and get our point of view across to the Committee.

          7                 In an opening statement I'd just like

          8  to say that a lot of scientists are calling for an

          9  80 percent reduction in greenhouse gases within the

         10  next 50 to 75 years, so a 30 percent reduction is,

         11  at least we're getting somewhere  but we're way

         12  behind.  And it's very serious issues facing the

         13  City with global gas emissions and, more

         14  importantly, the water level increases expected to

         15  hit New York City.

         16                 AltPOWER is a local company that

         17  specializes in renewable energy.  We are primarily a

         18  solar company. We are responsible for the Battery

         19  Park City projects, several EDC projects and also

         20  NYDA projects, recently, the 36 KW PV Ray on Bronx

         21  Science High School.

         22                 I also represent the New York Solar

         23  Energy Industries Association which has over 100

         24  members ranging from installers and electrical

         25  engineers, electricians themselves, manufacturers,
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          2  and so on.  I'm also here representing the Alliance

          3  for Clean Energy in New York, which is a statewide

          4  organization which represents all renewable

          5  industries in the State of New York.

          6                 I'm going to summarize a lot of these

          7  points, and they've been said before, but major

          8  studies show that New York City is one of the best

          9  places in the entire country to install solar

         10  electric systems.  For social, economic and

         11  environmental reasons, we have high electricity

         12  rates or coincidence of peak demand versus the peak

         13  output of the PV systems because of solar irradiance

         14  at 1:00 in the afternoon on a July day is perfect

         15  match for Con Edison's peak demand.

         16                 And since we have a City that is

         17  quite often a non attainment zone for EPA air

         18  quality, solar is obviously a good choice because

         19  there is no emissions.

         20                 And, thirdly, 80 percent of the peak

         21  generation needs to be in New York City's five

         22  boroughs.  We can't find places for power plants.

         23  We have air quality issues.  Solar over and over

         24  again is the best option for New York City.  And

         25  there is a lot of data and a lot of studies that
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          2  show that.

          3                 Studies by SUNY Albany show that New

          4  York City receives two and a half times the entire

          5  generation of Con Edison's network on an annual

          6  basis in power.  So for the nay- sayers it's totally

          7  a doable thing to increase substantial amounts of

          8  solar energy deployment.

          9                 Other studies show that over 6,000

         10  megawatts of solar, and that's somewhat

         11  conservative, could be installed within the City.

         12  Just looking at roofs, currently we only have two

         13  megawatts, about two megawatts installed in the

         14  entire City which is really a low number.

         15                 However, New York City on the

         16  positive side has some of the most famous and some

         17  of the best solar electric systems that are on the

         18  planet.  Constantly, we get a lot of press and

         19  publicity for that, and recently on the Discovery

         20  Network just two nights ago featured some of the

         21  buildings in Battery Park City.  So it's well known

         22  that New York is a leader in solar.

         23                 Solar electric systems are amongst

         24  the largest job creators for any energy services

         25  worldwide.  PV industry is experiencing massive
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          2  growth globally at about 35 percent a year. New York

          3  City is sort of right now, because of the lack of

          4  funding through NYSRDA is actually stagnant.  We

          5  expect no growth.  In fact, we expect negative

          6  numbers to come in because there is just such a lack

          7  of funding.

          8                 A recent paper by SUNY Albany, Dr.

          9  Richard Perez shows that the best way for New York

         10  City to have a secure grid is to implement PV as a

         11  source of generation under the Demand Response

         12  Program run by the New York Independent System

         13  Operator.

         14                 Right now PV systems, even though

         15  they match peak almost perfectly, are not allowed to

         16  partake in that, and there is a lot of money that

         17  goes into that program.  Most of the generation is

         18  fossil fuel generated, so we're having a situation

         19  where the best technology is not even eligible to

         20  participate and the money already exits.  We're not

         21  asking for more money in that sense. There is money

         22  there already that's not able to be used to

         23  implement solar.

         24                 Recently, the solar industry itself

         25  on a national level has targeted New York State and
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          2  New York City specifically to implement more and

          3  better programs, to get more solar in the State and

          4  City, and we have a goal of 500 megawatts within the

          5  five boroughs within ten years.

          6                 So what do we need to get there?

          7  Well, under PLANYC we have some percentage of

          8  renewable energy that is going to be a requirement.

          9  We have some percentage of greenhouse gas

         10  reductions, 30 percent. We're calling for a solar

         11  carve out where some percentage of that reduction

         12  comes specifically from solar electric systems.

         13                 It's really a perfect time to lobby

         14  the Public Service Commission, and we have been

         15  active in this in the Con Edison hearings.  It's

         16  pretty obvious that severe penalties will be placed

         17  on Con Edison.  A perfect time to take that money

         18  and instead of going into some penalty fund. That it

         19  would specifically be put into a fund to buy down

         20  solar electric systems.  Do it in Long Island City

         21  in the areas that were hit specifically.  This was

         22  done before when the blackout of Washington Heights

         23  occurred.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I have to ask

         25  you to conclude.
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          2                 MR. PEREIRA: Okay, sure.  Overall, if

          3  you can support our work towards getting more

          4  funding through the state and different agencies

          5  like the New York Power Authority to make more

          6  incentives available to solar systems.  We're not

          7  asking for subsidies, just incentives, that we can

          8  make the goals that we're setting here totally

          9  achievable and create more jobs and have a cleaner

         10  and a better City.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         12  We're joined by Council Member Kendall Stewart, a

         13  Member of the Committee. Thank you, Kendall.  David

         14  Burg.  You have to press the button.

         15                 MR. BURG:   I think I have it now.

         16  First place, Jim and Council Members, thank you very

         17  much for the opportunity to address you.  And thank

         18  you very much for the work you're doing here, which

         19  I think we all recognize as something that's of

         20  importance on multiple layers, and that's partly

         21  what I'm going to talk about today.  It's important

         22  to us locally.  It's important to regionally.  It's

         23  important internationally. And New York has always

         24  been a leader in those areas since its founding,

         25  working on multiple scales.
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          2                 I'm the President of Wild Metro,

          3  we're a small but actually rapidly growing non-

          4  profit whose concern is protecting nature where

          5  people live.  It also means we're concerned with

          6  protecting people.

          7                 We believe in projects that have

          8  multiple benefits, and I think what you're hearing

          9  here today are the kinds of projects, the kind of

         10  testimony we've just heard, that will benefit the

         11  environment, benefit eco systems, benefit people in

         12  terms of both our economy and our public policy.

         13  Let's face it, these things even have implications

         14  for energy uses, strong international policy

         15  implications. So I think we really have before us

         16  some exciting opportunities to hit multiple goals.

         17                 My own background is somewhat unusual

         18  in that I've been a professional naturalist but I've

         19  also worked in the real estate industry.  That's

         20  either the result of schizophrenia or a strange life

         21  history.  It's a little bit of both maybe.  But I

         22  think we need to see more of that.  We've seen a lot

         23  of that today, which is the cooperation between

         24  various sectors who have traditionally been at war.

         25                 We're proud to say that our office is
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          2  donated to us by the Durst Organization which is, as

          3  many people know, has been a global leader in a lot

          4  of the issues of green buildings.  On the other

          5  hand, we also need to be honest about not being a

          6  Pollyanna about it.  There's times when specific

          7  interests will feel threatened by moves to change

          8  the way we live.  We need to try to lessen that pain

          9  but not ignore it.

         10                 One of the things that I think gets

         11  missed is that a lot of what we're talking about in

         12  terms of energy consumption based on either building

         13  heating or cooling or transportation costs really

         14  gets back to land use.  And, again, if we can

         15  address land use issues, we address so many issues

         16  that plague our society in addition to the energy

         17  cost.

         18                 Wild Metro is about to launch an

         19  initiative with a bunch of inner city clinics in the

         20  Bronx in which we're trying to get people outdoors

         21  because you've got a plague of obesity.  Well,

         22  you've got a plague of obesity partly because

         23  nobody's having a lifestyle in which they get the

         24  exercise that they could get.  So we have an

         25  initiative to try to get them to do positive things
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          2  for the planet.  So we call it Healthy People

          3  Healthy Planet.

          4                 But the key thing that you're going

          5  to need to look at is not just land use but making

          6  tough decisions.  We think of suburbanization as

          7  being a regional problem, outside of New York City.

          8  And yet we've seen the last several years,

          9  particularly the outer boroughs, I happen to live in

         10  the Bronx where a developer was allowed to destroy

         11  Chapel Farm site.  Wild Metro was actually

         12  represented by Devibois (phonetic) and Plimpton in a

         13  pro bono suit to try to prevent a Big Box shopping

         14  center from being constructed in outer Staten

         15  Island.

         16                 In these outer borough areas and

         17  places like Arverne which, of course, is going to be

         18  hit by sea level change, even on City-owned lands

         19  we're moving ahead with sprawl that just is not

         20  compatible with sustainability goals.

         21                 And I really applaud Chairman Gennaro

         22  on his efforts to set aside lands like the Flushing

         23  Airport and other wetland sites for long-term

         24  protection.

         25                 Finally, the thing I wanted to say
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          2  is, we also need to look at our role in terms of

          3  standards we set.  We know that there is an

          4  interaction between ourselves.  We think of New York

          5  City as being the five boroughs, but don't forget

          6  the huge impact we have upstate with the lands that

          7  provide clean water to our drinking system.

          8                 One of the advisors to Wild Metro is

          9  Al Appleton, who was the Commissioner who took the

         10  lead in protecting upstate lands.  And we can and

         11  should do more on a regional basis to have a land

         12  use policy in which business individuals and the

         13  ecosystems can continue to flourish.

         14            We ought to be setting standards for

         15  things like, we know that on a global level the

         16  continued and recently announced further destruction

         17  of things like tropical forests, is going to have an

         18  impact on the air quality that we have here, and yet

         19  the City still continues allow importation of

         20  products that were not done sustainably.  So we can

         21  work on a global basis to remedy a lot of these

         22  situations.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         24  David.  I want to thank you and Wild Metro for all

         25  the wonderful things that your group does and I see
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          2  everywhere.  We certainly appreciate your advocacy.

          3                 Anthony, I'm anointing you the High

          4  Priest of Solar in New York City.  That's an

          5  official title. You can use that now. You can talk

          6  to my staff; we're working hard to try to push the

          7  envelope.  There's hearts and minds out there got to

          8  get moved within the Administration, within the

          9  power authority.  I don't have to tell you.  Your

         10  testimony and your witness before us is what we're

         11  using as fuel for our advocacy so keep it coming.

         12  We're with you.

         13                 Nancy, yes, you know I've been

         14  involved in trying to push green manufacturing and

         15  green technology and just green sort of business

         16  opportunities here, so we certainly look forward

         17  participating with you with this C 40 conference.

         18  We'll have a lot of time for collaboration.

         19                 I just want to recognize Council

         20  Member Mark Viverito who has questions.  Council

         21  Member Mark- Viverito.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Yes.

         23  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Obviously, I want to commend

         24  your work on this issue, and I know that you, as

         25  well as the Speaker, do sit on the Committee that
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          2  put forth this plan.

          3                 My question is the following based on

          4  the testimony that I've heard from Ms. Anderson and

          5  Mr. Pereira.  Is there no discussion within the plan

          6  at all about solar energy?  For you, Mr. Pereira,

          7  that question.  And then, Miss Anderson, with

          8  regards to you, the discussion about codifying.

          9  Obviously, I believe very strongly, how do we put

         10  this within legislation?  How do we make it the law,

         11  so to speak.  So was there any discussion with

         12  regards to those measures to kind of fast track this

         13  or send a message from this Administration that this

         14  as serious as it is?  If each of you could just

         15  answer, that and I just had a follow up.

         16                 MR. PEREIRA:  Regarding the solar

         17  goal, it's mentioned, but I don't think there's any

         18  specific goal or some kind of plan of actually

         19  making it happen and understanding what we need to

         20  make that all happen.  Now there are several issues.

         21    The Public Service Commission, NYCRDA, Con Edison

         22  itself that are just tremendous barriers to having

         23  growth in this City.  We've overcome them diligently

         24  ourselves but without much support.  We just take it

         25  as this is the time to garner the support we need.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  If I could, I'd

          3  like to just jump in here myself.  We have the

          4  effort that's been put forth now that is ten points

          5  at a part of the sustainability agenda, and there

          6  ten goals.  I think your question gets to when we

          7  take them from goals to concrete steps.  How do we

          8  build in solar?  How do we build in this?  How do we

          9  build in that?  That's really where it gets sticky.

         10                 That's why when Anthony and I were

         11  talking about hearts and minds out there, it will be

         12  critically important for us to make a case in the

         13  strongest way possible that certain elements have to

         14  be in there.  How do you do a sustainability plan

         15  that doesn't have "X?" How do it that doesn't have

         16   "Z?"   How do you do it that doesn't have that?

         17  It's not a sustainability plan if you don't have

         18  that.  That's the give and take that will happen as

         19  this thing grows and progresses.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:

         21  What's the next step?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, the

         23  sustainability people will do -- they're in sort of

         24  one level of outreach now. They go to a second

         25  outreach, and then we commence negotiations with
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          2  them on what this plan is going to look like.  At

          3  this point this Hearing is about trying to -- is

          4  actually part of the process that you're talking

          5  about because I'm already looking ahead past the

          6  public participation and to get the Council ready

          7  for our dealings with them.  I think it's important

          8  for us to have a posture that says the Council's

          9  bottom line is "XYZ."  These are things that we can

         10  talk more about.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  I

         12  think that clearly there are some steps that have

         13  been taken.  For instance, my neighborhoods, my

         14  district is one of the districts where there is a

         15  lot of development happening right now because there

         16  is less vestiges of City lands.  There is quite a

         17  bit of it that is in the process of being developed.

         18

         19                 But, HPD for instance, who I've had

         20  to interact with almost on a daily basis, has within

         21  its guidelines right now that they encourage that

         22  any sort of proposals that are submitted do have

         23  lead certification, lead Silver or et cetera.

         24                 I know that when I've sat around the

         25  table with developers that I very much encourage
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          2  green design in all aspects. I think that as a

          3  result of that lobbying on my part we've been able

          4  to really move forward.

          5                 But, I'm wondering if that's similar

          6  in other City agencies as well, that kind of moving

          7  forward on that.  I know that this is just about the

          8  plan, but I really want to figure out in what ways

          9  we can look at it in another angle.  I know HPD does

         10  it, but I don't know EDC or any of the other City

         11  agencies.  I don't know.  Ms. Anderson if you had

         12  any.

         13                 MS. ANDERSON:  Council Member Mark-

         14  Viverito, your questions are cut to the core.

         15  Taking nothing away from HPD, which I think has been

         16  exemplary in encouraging and giving extra points to

         17  developers for green building, that agency does what

         18  it is able to do.

         19                 But that is limited, which I think

         20  goes straight to the core of our position that the

         21  City needs a comprehensive, mandatory green building

         22  law for all residential building, for commercial

         23  buildings, for cultural institutions, for anything

         24  that gets built or renovated in New York.

         25                 As a previous speaker had noted,

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  there are a million existing buildings that could

          3  use significant upgrading if we're to achieve our

          4  sustainability goals or our carbon reduction goals.

          5                 New legislation I believe, needs to

          6  have the teeth and the gravity of being anchored in

          7  the City's building code because that's the bible

          8  that makes everything go around and the City's

          9  zoning resolution, which is the place where a great

         10  deal of negotiation takes place for large scale

         11  rezonings and large scale developments, several of

         12  which I had cited.

         13                 Certainly too, in order to meet the

         14  goals that we're calling for here and to meet them

         15  in fair way, the City's economic development body

         16  has access to resources, has access to incentives

         17  that should be brought to bear, should be on the

         18  table, should be made available to appropriate

         19  developers.

         20                 Similarly, I would argue that, and I

         21  spent many years working in the City Comptroller's

         22  office, the City's pension funds or some segment of

         23  those funds, there should be a green reap

         24  (phonetic), a green real estate investment fund

         25  established by the City and focused on high
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          2  performance development.  Currently, the City

          3  invests millions of pension dollars in ungreen reaps

          4  around the country which have, I'm sure, been very

          5  profitable, but it's a missed opportunity to do well

          6  by doing good.  Those are several suggestions.  I'd

          7  be happy to discuss others with you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  I want

          9  to thank you because I think obviously I'm very

         10  seriously concerned about this for many reasons.  We

         11  all have a greater social responsibility, but I also

         12  do represent a district that is very much afflicted

         13  by high levels of carbon emissions and high levels

         14  of asthma in the population, so that's my interest

         15  in being an advocate.  I'm trying to reduce those

         16  emissions very immediately, planting more trees,

         17  building green roofs, sustainable design in general.

         18

         19                 I wanted to just ask one last

         20  question with regards to, because as I'm sitting

         21  here listening I'm getting ideas as these

         22  developments are happening, things that I could try

         23  to negotiate and broker with the developers

         24  themselves.

         25                 So the issue of solar energy I think
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          2  is really interesting and I think obviously under-

          3  implemented in this City. The argument that I hear a

          4  lot is the expense of it.  I know that there is an

          5  initial expense, but I think that's something that

          6  we could factor.  So if you can speak briefly to

          7  that, and, Ms. Anderson, I will be calling you

          8  because I have two zonings that I'm involved in

          9  right now, and I'm very fascinated by the idea of

         10  getting something written within the zoning

         11  resolution.  As we move forward I might want to

         12  lobby for that.

         13                 MS. ANDERSON:  I'd be happy to.  And

         14  I'm your constituent, so I'd be doubly happy to.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:

         16  Wonderful.

         17                 MR. PEREIRA:  To address solar in

         18  expense, first on the LEAD buildings because Battery

         19  Park City required all buildings to be under their

         20  green standard, but if it was strictly that they had

         21  to be under the LEAD standard, none of those

         22  buildings would have had solar on them because the

         23  LEAD criteria for renewable energy generation on

         24  site is really difficult to achieve.  So LEAD is

         25  fine, but it doesn't mean solar or renewable energy
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          2  happens at the developments.  That's a very

          3  important thing.  So going for LEAD which is great

          4  and fantastic, but there is an additional which says

          5  put a mandate in for solar.

          6                 Now in the expense, yes, surely it's

          7  an expensive technology, but let me just put in

          8  perspective how expensive it is versus other

          9  technologies.  In the next five years our federal

         10  government will fund fossil fuel exploration and R &

         11  D in the tune of $232.5 billion in five years.

         12  Solar energy's never had $1 billion spent in the

         13  history of this government.  In fact, the National

         14  Renewable Energy Lab's budget was slashed in half in

         15  the last year, even after all this state of the

         16  union stuff about renewable energy.  It's just

         17  getting killed, for real.  So a lot of talk but

         18  nothing's happening.

         19                 When we look at the expense of a

         20  solar electric system for New York City, there's a

         21  lot of things that it's up against.  One of the key

         22  things is that the funding or the incentive program

         23  from NYCRDA doesn't address that New York City is an

         24  expensive City to do construction.

         25                 One of the things I've been trying to
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          2  advocate is to get the amount of incentive pegged to

          3  the prevailing wage rate.  We want people to be able

          4  to make a living and be comfortable. However, that

          5  prevailing wage rate is very high, and if we have to

          6  use it on construction projects, especially public

          7  buildings, NYSRDA is going to give you $4 a watt

          8  whether you do it in New York City or if you do it

          9  in Elmira, New York and that makes no sense in the

         10  construction expense side of things.

         11                 Some of the barriers that actually

         12  make solar expensive in New York City the City

         13  Council can help with.  Con Edison is delaying

         14  projects constantly.  We're working on project New

         15  York Hall of Science where they've let it operate

         16  for the last year but they still haven't approved

         17  it.  It's all because of some requirement that is

         18  not even in the standardized requirements. They're

         19  making steps that we consider ridiculous.  We want

         20  to work with them but at points it goes to far.

         21                 Beyond that, the expense of solar

         22  electric system in the City are also affected by

         23  Building Department rules, the cost of cranes.  One

         24  idea I had is maybe when there is a solar electric

         25  system going up on a building there is no street
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          2  permit for solar systems.  That can run a couple of

          3  thousand dollars.  Little things like that can make

          4  a difference.  So again a number of ideas. We're

          5  hoping to sit down with Chairman Gennaro's staff and

          6  hash them out and give you ideas along those lines.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          8  Thank you.  I appreciate all the value that this

          9  panel has brought, and we appreciate you being here

         10  very much.  Thank you.

         11                 The next panel.  Carter Craft from

         12  Metropolitan Waterfront Alliance, David Gahl, and

         13  Chris Neidl from Solar One.

         14                 Have you got a written statement Mr.

         15  Neidl?  Okay, why don't you leave that for the

         16  Sergeant.  Technically, our conversation is not

         17  really on the record now because your words are not

         18  being recorded.  But if you could leave that with

         19  the Sergeant, then we'll make that part of the

         20  record, Chris.   Thank you. Daniel Simon of the GAIA

         21  Institute and Bruce McInnes of The Tree Care

         22  Consultancy of New York.  I appreciate you being

         23  here. Thank you for your patience.  Donna will give

         24  you the oath and then we can proceed.

         25                 COUNSEL DE COSTANZO:  Please raise
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          2  your right hand. In the testimony that you're about

          3  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,

          4  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          5                 (Witnesses sworn)

          6                 COUNSEL DE COSTANZO: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          8  David Gahl is who? Okay, fine.  Thank you for being

          9  here.  We've got great respect environmental

         10  advocates, and we look forward to your statement.

         11  Please feel free to proceed.

         12                 MR. GAHL:  My name is David Gahl.

         13  I'm the Air and Energy Program Director for

         14  Environmental Advocates in New York. For those of

         15  you that don't know, Environmental Advocates is a

         16  state government watch dog in Albany, holding

         17  lawmakers and agencies accountable for enacting and

         18  enforcing --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I just want to

         20  get your statement in front of me. Okay. Please

         21  continue.

         22                 MR. GAHL: -- As I was saying, for

         23  those of you who don't know, Environmental Advocates

         24  is a state government watch dog in Albany.  We hold

         25  lawmakers and agencies accountable for enacting and
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          2  enforcing state laws that protect natural resources

          3  and public health.  We appreciate the opportunity to

          4  testify here today, and for the record we support

          5  the City's goal to reduce greenhouse gas emissions

          6  under this plan.

          7                 I'm not going to read verbatim from

          8  my testimony in the interest of time, and we've

          9  already had quite a bit of a discussion, or at least

         10  some context provided by other speakers related to

         11  the effects of global warming on the City.  I'm

         12  going to just jump straight to the recommendation

         13  section.

         14                 My testimony highlights initiatives

         15  at the state level that could work in concert with

         16  City actions.  The first recommendation that we

         17  would suggest is, New York City we understand is in

         18  the process of creating a greenhouse gas inventory.

         19  Similar efforts of updating and improving a

         20  greenhouse gas inventory registry at the state level

         21  are underway.  The greenhouse gas inventory is a

         22  crucial step.  Much of the nuts and bolts policy

         23  work that should flow from the development of that

         24  information in order to track progress towards

         25  meeting the City's greenhouse gas reduction goals,
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          2  New York City should regularly update this annual

          3  inventory.  This data should be publicly available.

          4  It should be posted on the internet and available to

          5  the general public.  As the inventory is completed

          6  within this larger framework, the City should set a

          7  sector by sector emissions goal, sectors of the

          8  economy, that is, and track progress towards meeting

          9  these goals.

         10                 Secondly, we know that greenhouse

         11  gases are emitted from three main sources: (1) fuel

         12  burned to produce electricity; (2) fuel burned to

         13  heat homes; and (3) fuel burned to power different

         14  forms of transportation.  This section of my

         15  testimony deals with the electricity portion of

         16  greenhouse gas emissions and relates specifically to

         17  the regional climate pact, the regional gas

         18  initiative otherwise known as REGI.  With

         19  Massachusetts formally back in the regional pact,

         20  eight states in the Northeast have developed this

         21  cap and trade framework that sets limits and then

         22  reduces the amount of carbon dioxide that's produced

         23  by electric generating facilities over a certain

         24  size.  Maryland is expected to join sometime in

         25  2007, and California is participating in these
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          2  discussions as well.

          3                 This regional program puts New York

          4  State and the City on the path toward declining

          5  carbon emissions from the electric sector.  New York

          6  State is currently in the process of soliciting

          7  informal comments on their proposed state

          8  regulations to implement REGI in New York.  New York

          9  City should support this State initiative.  The City

         10  is also on record with supporting a key feature of

         11  that plan which is the auctioning of 100 percent of

         12  the carbon dioxide allowances associated with REGI.

         13                 We've heard some testimony today

         14  related to the lack of funding for energy efficiency

         15  and renewable energy initiatives. This auction

         16  component could raise much needed funds for programs

         17  that could help increase energy efficiency and

         18  establish incentives for the installation of

         19  renewable energy across the City and across the

         20  State.  There are a variety of different benefits,

         21  but even one that's probably often overlooked, if

         22  increased funds are invested in energy efficiency,

         23  overall rate payer bills will continue to decline.

         24                 Thirdly, the climate pact, however,

         25  is just a modest step.  Scientists suggest that in
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          2  order to avoid the worst effects of climate change

          3  globally, we need to reduce greenhouse gas emissions

          4  by more than 80 percent.  In his inaugural State of

          5  the State Speech, Governor Spitzer announced his

          6  intention to expand this climate pact.

          7  Environmental Advocates believes New York State

          8  should in the near future expand this framework to

          9  other sources of the economy, specifically to other

         10  stationary sources of C02 emissions.  This expansion

         11  would not only address more sources of greenhouse

         12  gases but also lower compliance costs for all

         13  parties.

         14                 Finally, we've also heard talk about

         15  the installation of renewable technologies in New

         16  York City.  One of the key initiatives at the State

         17  level that needs to be pursued is changing the

         18  State's net metering laws.  New York has one of the

         19  most restrictive net metering policies of any of the

         20  northeastern states.  Those need to be updated, and

         21  the threshold needs to be considerably raised so

         22  that net metering is actually a significant source

         23  of energy generation in the state.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you so

         25  much.  We appreciate you being here and also coming
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          2  from Albany.  You came from Albany to be here. Thank

          3  you.  Thank you very much.

          4                 Daniel, right.  Daniel Simon.  Okay.

          5                 MR. SIMON:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Please.

          7                 MR. SIMON:  I don't have a written

          8  testimony presented to you, but after Jason from

          9  NYPIR got away with the e mail excuse, I'll do the

         10  same.  I will be brief, but I'd like to have a voice

         11  for vegetation on the record today. So, Mr. Chairman

         12  and Mr. Stewart, thank you for holding this

         13  Oversight Hearing.

         14                 I'm Daniel Simon representing The

         15  GAIA Institute working on low impact development

         16  issues and eco- system services. Vegetation is

         17  nature's sponge.  Vegetation  captures storm water

         18  and, if permitted by law, it could capture

         19  significant amounts of grey water from sinks,

         20  showers et cetera.  What does this have to do with

         21  greenhouse gases?  Sewage treatment plants are

         22  energy intensive, and for that we greatly anticipate

         23  Rohit's greenhouse gas census, which we'll get into

         24  more detail on that.

         25                 Every gallon of water that's diverted
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          2  from sewage treatment plants is less money spent,

          3  reduced energy and reduced emissions used to treat

          4  sewage.

          5                 Now onto air conditioning.  If you've

          6  ever walked by my air conditioning unit, which I use

          7  sparingly, it cools my abode, but it spits out hot

          8  air on the other side.  Keeping mine on makes my

          9  neighbor's house or apartment even hotter, so they

         10  turn up their air condition unit.  Vegetation is

         11  nature's air conditioning. Every tree, every

         12  restored wetland, every green street, every green

         13  roof cools the air emission free and free of charge.

         14    Vegetation reduces AC demand directly and, by the

         15  way, air condition equipment works more efficiently

         16  at lower temperatures.

         17                 Vegetation, of course, plays in to

         18  other 2030 goals such as waterfront access, asthma

         19  reduction and more parks.  So vegetation should be a

         20  shoe- in.  But for vegetation to play a more active

         21  role in reducing greenhouse gases, there should be

         22  greater initiatives and incentives to plant

         23  vegetation, to maintain it and stronger

         24  collaborations between City agencies such as DEP,

         25  Parks, DOT et cetera and non- profit and community
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          2  organizations.  Of course, the GAIA Institute would

          3  be delighted to help meet these needs.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          5  Thank you very much, and please say hi to Paul for

          6  us.  He's a very, very dear friend of this

          7  Committee.  Mr. McInnes?

          8                 MR. MCINNES:  Good morning.  Thank,

          9  Mr. Chairman and Council Member Stewart for having

         10  us here.  I'm excited by the possibilities which are

         11  presented by these hearings, and specifically as

         12  they speak to these important issues.  Thank you all

         13  for the work that you're doing.

         14                 I'm a certified and consulting

         15  arborist, and I speak from 30 years of experience

         16  working with trees in New York City. A couple of

         17  issues are important to me, one is that we speak

         18  today so much of emissions, and I haven't heard the

         19  concept of air quality addressed as often as I would

         20  have liked to this morning. That having said been

         21  said.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That is an

         23  overall goal of the Mayor's Sustainability

         24  initiative, but today is sort of narrow focus was on

         25  greenhouse gases.
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          2                 MR. MCINNES:  I understand, and the

          3  reason I'm here is because I was alerted yesterday,

          4  late via an e- mail from the Parks Department about

          5  this Hearing, and I actually thought that this would

          6  be a Parks Department opportunity to present their

          7  parts of their plan as a response to the Mayor's

          8  initiative.

          9                 So I want to just touch on some of

         10  the comments in my statement, which I will just then

         11  leave with you.  I didn't mean that you weren't

         12  addressing the air quality issue.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, that's quite

         14  all right.

         15                 MR. MCINNES:  Just as you can be

         16  certified as a green building without planting a

         17  blade of grass, it's just one of those things.

         18                 I'm here to speak really in favor of

         19  trees, but that's not the issue.  I want to bring

         20  the Committee's attention to the potential for the

         21  Parks Department's response to these issues. This is

         22  the opportunity to do that.  I'm happy to be

         23  preceded by Daniel and the concept of vegetation.

         24                 Each year thousands of trees are

         25  planted by the Parks Department through their street
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          2  tree planting programs and through other programs.

          3  In some ways that's good.  It's sexy. It's easy to

          4  raise money for trees.  Everybody loves new trees,

          5  but I'm here to bring to the Committee's attention

          6  the need for maintenance of trees that we already

          7  have.

          8                 We're environmentally much more

          9  productive in dealing with air quality and

         10  environmental resources when we protect the planted

         11  environment rather than planting trees that we do

         12  not maintain.  The Parks Department, and I'm not

         13  here to try to make this a referendum on Parks

         14  Department behavior, that's a larger issue than my

         15  five minutes.  But DDC projects that operate

         16  throughout the City often have tree consultants but

         17  often are permitted by Parks to proceed with

         18  construction, which damages trees despite the tree

         19  consultant presence.  New tree plantings are not

         20  monitored by Parks and playgrounds and expansion of

         21  parks will be done by the Capital Projects Division

         22  of Parks, which has a dismal record of protecting

         23  trees.

         24                 I just want to try alert you so that

         25  when you hear in the future in other hearings on
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          2  these issues when they are more related to the green

          3  and planted environment, when you hear the Parks

          4  Department tell you how wonderful their response to

          5  the Mayor's initiative will be because of all the

          6  wonderful trees they are going to plant, I would

          7  urge you to ask them why they are spending their

          8  precious and little money planting new trees when

          9  they are not maintaining and rather even damaging

         10  the trees that we already have.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Counsel just

         12  wants to have a word with me for a second.  Council

         13  Member Stewart has a question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chair.  In light of the fact that we have such a

         16  robust development in New York City with, as I call

         17  it the concrete jungle, expanding, what suggestion

         18  would you have for us to at least deal with the

         19  Building Department so at least they can leave space

         20  in front of or in the back of their buildings and

         21  maintain it to be either a lawn or some sort of

         22  green area?  Because it appears to me that buildings

         23  are going up everywhere, but there is no allowance

         24  for anything to do with grass or even trees or

         25  anything like that.  What suggestions do you have?
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          2                 MR. MCINNES:  Thank you for the

          3  question.  One important aspect to consider is the

          4  green roof type initiative that's been mentioned

          5  here many times today.  There are other places.

          6  There are, for example, cities in Germany, Stuttgart

          7  requires that a building plan accommodate for the

          8  amount of land that is being lost to the environment

          9  by the construction, and that it either be replaced

         10  on the roof of the building or that other credits be

         11  taken nearby.  That's code.  That's the law.  By

         12  requiring that, they also have effected the ability

         13  of construction to recognize the environmental

         14  aspects of greening your roof, as it were, in terms

         15  of heating and air conditioning.

         16                 This real estate and zoning question

         17  is one for you. I don't know how you get the

         18  Buildings Department to accommodate land anywhere on

         19  property.  One thing we could have a better effect

         20  on is if we forced the Buildings Department permit

         21  process to recognize or to just ask a question "Is

         22  there a tree?"  Someone wants to develop their one

         23  lot, and they go to the Buildings Department for a

         24  permit to build and to put in a curb cut and there's

         25  no form.
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          2                 There's no checkoff on the Buildings

          3  Department application for a work permit as to

          4  whether or not there's a tree. It really should say

          5  if there's a tree, first go to the Parks Department

          6  then come back to us because that tree may be

          7  important. It may be protectable.  It may be

          8  decrepid. It may not be an issue. But if it is an

          9  issue, the Parks Department should and has no power

         10  after the fact, after someone's been given a

         11  building permit.

         12                 The Parks Department really has very

         13  little power except to try and sell the contractor

         14  the tree and say, oh that's a 24 inch tree.  We'll

         15  give it to you, but it's going to cost you 40 grand.

         16  The process must properly start with the Building

         17  Department before anybody breaks ground and cuts the

         18  sidewalk.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  So your

         20  suggestion --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Councilman

         22  Stewart, I'll indulge this for just two more minutes

         23  and then we have to move on because this is -- As

         24  worthy a topic as this is, it's a field of the focus

         25  of today's Hearing.  Although it is important, so I
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          2  have given it some latitude, but we have speakers

          3  waiting to speak, and we're looking to conclude the

          4  hearing at 1:00 p.m. because I have to go someplace

          5  else, so two more minutes then we're going to have

          6  to wrap this.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair.  I just wanted to get some ideas as to

          9  what can be done if there should be some sort of

         10  legislation introduced to deal with the Building

         11  Departments to make sure that new buildings have

         12  some allowance for maybe a green space.  I just

         13  wanted to get suggestions from the gentleman, and I

         14  thank you for that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I certainly

         16  appreciate that. Also, we'll make your views known

         17  to the Chair of our Parks Committee, Council Member

         18  Foster from the Bronx and our Buildings Committee

         19  Chair, Council Member Dilan from Brooklyn.  So thank

         20  you, Mr. McInnes, for your value added to the

         21  Hearing.

         22                 Daniel, who is more into trees and

         23  vegetation than GAIA, and so we have to get Paul out

         24  to Willow lake which has been reopened.  They built

         25  the bridge again, so I was just at Willow Lake the
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          2  other day, and I know that he and Julie have a

          3  particular interest in that.

          4                 Mr. Gahl, I just wanted to ask you

          5  with regard to REGI, could you give us the time

          6  frame that you believe that REGI is going to proceed

          7  and when we can expect to see the auction that you

          8  made reference to?

          9                 MR. GAHL:  Sure.  This is the state

         10  of the process right now, the Department of

         11  Environmental Conservation has issued what they're

         12  calling their pre- proposal.  The comment period for

         13  that pre- proposal ends on March 13th.  We

         14  anticipate that shortly after that comment period is

         15  over that the Department will issue its formal

         16  proposal, and within 45 to 60 days that proposal

         17  will be finalized.

         18                 The program starts per the agreements

         19  in January 1, 2009.  In order to have a well

         20  functioning market, the Department is looking at an

         21  auction mechanism well in advance of 2009.  So

         22  they're looking to go forward with auctions in 2008.

         23    They should probably be out a year in advance.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  David, thank

         25  you, and if I could beg your indulgence, the hearing
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          2  will be over shortly.  We have one more panel.  But

          3  if I could beg your indulgence just to stay around

          4  until the end of the hearing because I'd like you to

          5  have a conversation with the staff of the Committee.

          6    We have an interest in that, and you came all the

          7  way down from Albany, so we want to get you with the

          8  staff a little bit before you go back up. It's cold

          9  up there.  You might want to think about staying

         10  here where it's warm.

         11                 MR. GAHL:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I want to thank

         13  this panel for help the that you've given us.  Thank

         14  you.  Thank you all.

         15                 The last panel, Dr. Stephen Hammer

         16  from Columbia University, Carsten Glaeser, Carsten

         17  Glaeser?  Okay.  Dana Cohen, Ocean Arks

         18  International, okay, great.  And Constance Lesold,

         19  Easton Parkway Coalition.  Okay.

         20                 Thank you so much for being so

         21  patient while I have Donna give you the oath, and

         22  then we can proceed.

         23                 COUNSEL DE COSTANZO:  Please raise

         24  your right hand. In the testimony that you are about

         25  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,
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          2  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 (Witnesses sworn)

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you very

          5  much.  We'll do it in the same order as the other

          6  panels.  We'll start with Dr. Hammer.  Dr. Hammer,

          7  the floor is yours.  I appreciate you being here,

          8  and thank you for your patience.

          9                 DR. HAMMER:  Council Member Gennaro

         10  and Council Member Stewart, thanks for holding this

         11  hearing today, and thanks for sticking around so

         12  long.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, we thank

         14  you.  We thank you.

         15                 DR. HAMMER:  I was here two years ago

         16  at an Oversight hearing that you held looking into

         17  energy issues, and I felt compelled to testify at

         18  that point because I noted that after two and a half

         19  hours, I had not heard the word "climate" come up a

         20  single time as regards energy policy making in the

         21  City.  It's a night and day difference that here we

         22  are talking about this first and foremost today.

         23                 I do research.  I teach courses on

         24  urban energy systems and policy at Columbia

         25  University.  I do research on what I characterize as
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          2  urban energy and climate governance.  So I'm not

          3  going to direct my comments today, and I would be

          4  happy to send you some written comments afterwards.

          5  But this is just based on my observations of what

          6  I've heard and seen today and my observation of the

          7  policy making process as it's gone on related to the

          8  sustainability PLANYC 2030 over the last year or so.

          9                 I want to make several comments.

         10  First, just reacting to Rohit Aggarwala's note that

         11  the City has been using the ICLEI climate change

         12  modeling software.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Which model?

         14                 DR. HAMMER:  It's ICLEI.  It's the

         15  International Coalition of Local Environmental

         16  Initiatives.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         18                 DR. HAMMER:  It's a data tracking

         19  software.  The thing I would like to point out to

         20  you, and the thing that I will hope you take back to

         21  Rohit's office is that that is simply, literally a

         22  tracking piece of software.  You put in inputs and

         23  it tells you what your total greenhouse gas

         24  emissions are.  It does absolutely nothing as

         25  regards modeling potential impacts of different
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          2  policy initiatives that you ultimately choose to

          3  pursue. So one thing that I would respectfully

          4  suggest to the Council and to the City as a whole.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Please suggest.

          6                 DR. HAMMER:  The City needs to invest

          7  in a serious modeling exercise that allows it to

          8  examine if we impose congestion charging, if we add

          9  new lines, rapid bus transit, tree planting systems.

         10    Systems like Marcal are very sophisticated energy

         11  modeling software that can project climate change

         12  impacts based on the type of policy initiative that

         13  you ultimately pursue.  So I think the City needs to

         14  invest in that first off.

         15                 Secondly, a lot of what we've heard

         16  today, people coming and proposing mandates, people

         17  talking about incentives of different sorts, that is

         18  a crucial role that the City Council has to consider

         19  as it looks at the plan put forward by the City.  I

         20  am a huge fan of the City's undertaking of this

         21  initiative, but at the same time having looked at

         22  these kinds of programs in other cities, I'm also

         23  aware of the fact that several years on, none of

         24  them are meeting the targets that they're setting

         25  out.
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          2                 What needs to be done is carefully

          3  consider the role of incentives versus mandates.  If

          4  you read that leading public policy journal, New

          5  York Magazine, last week there was an article by

          6  Chris Smith where Deputy Mayor Doctoroff noted the

          7  same number that Rohit was mentioning earlier today,

          8  60 to 70 percent of emissions come from buildings.

          9                 Deputy Mayor Doctoroff specifically

         10  noted we are looking to incentivize buildings to

         11  take action to reduce emission levels.  Is that the

         12  Mayor's policy preference?  Perhaps, but at the same

         13  time I think we can look towards cities like London,

         14  cities like Barcelona, where they are imposing

         15  mandates, and those mandates are proving to be

         16  effective.

         17                 I'll just offer one single example.

         18  In London, the Mayor's energy strategy and his land

         19  use strategy collaborate so that they require new

         20  building projects that exceed a certain size and

         21  thus must get a permit from the Mayor.  Projects

         22  that are smaller than that threshold must get a

         23  permit from their local borough.  It's a different

         24  form of governance, but it's important that they

         25  have to get the Mayor's permission.  And the Mayor
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          2  says that if you're coming seeking my permission you

          3  must generate 10 percent of your building's energy

          4  requirements on site from renewable sources.  In

          5  that sense, it's very similar to the rules that are

          6  in place in Battery Park City, only it's much more

          7  aggressive, 10 percent.

          8                 The developers moaned and groaned,

          9  but now they're showing up with proposals in hand 12

         10  percent, 14 percent, 15 percent.  The mandates are

         11  proving effective.  If we simply look in one single

         12  borough of London, Croydon, which is a heavily

         13  commercial and industrialized area of London, within

         14  the 14 months after that borough created its own 10

         15  percent rule, two megawatts of new installed solar

         16  PD capacity has been implemented, more than doubling

         17  what we had previously seen on a city- wide basis

         18  throughout London.  One single borough, one 33rd of

         19  London now exceeds the entire City- wide total.

         20                 The third thing I want to emphasize,

         21  the last thing --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And that's for

         23  solar, you said?

         24                 DR. HAMMER:  That was for solar.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And there's
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          2  never sun in there anyway even?

          3                 DR. HAMMER:  They have fewer solar

          4  resources than we do here.  Let's just keep that in

          5  mind.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  All right.

          7                 DR. HAMMER:  The final thing I want

          8  to mention is this notion of oversight, and you're

          9  clearing doing a great job at it today.  But if we

         10  look at policies, particularly coming out of the

         11  European Union, you'll see that once they have these

         12  programs in place, PLANYC equivalent at the EU

         13  level, they also say that in three years or four

         14  years we're going to come back and we're going to

         15  check on how we're doing, and we reserve the right

         16  to get more aggressive.  If it looks as if the

         17  incentives, or whatever programs we put into place,

         18  have not succeeded in getting us on that path to

         19  achieve that 30 percent target by 2030, then we may

         20  have to take more aggressive action.  I think that's

         21  a very important caveat that needs to be built in if

         22  indeed there is a policy preference for the use of

         23  incentives right now that we need to strongly note

         24  that mandates may be in order, and we don't hesitate

         25  to use them in the future.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Good.

          3                 DR. HAMMER:  I'll stop there.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Dr. Hammer,

          5  thank you.  Before I lose my train of thought,

          6  usually I'll wait for the whole panel to go and then

          7  I'll do my thing.  How about this, I hate to give a

          8  professor a homework assignment.  It's almost like a

          9  strange irony there, you know?  But if you'd write

         10  me a letter, particularly regarding the modeling

         11  issue that you brought up, which is of concern to

         12  you, the modeling thing, plus whatever else you want

         13  to mention, send it to me, to the attention of the

         14  Counsel to the Committee, Donna De Costanzo, and

         15  we'll get it over to Rohit, and Rohit will have to

         16  respond in writing to us, so we'll make like a thing

         17  out of it.

         18                 DR. HAMMER:  That's great.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you, Dr.

         20  Hammer, for being here.  I appreciate that.  Dana?

         21  Dana Cohen?  Dana Lee Cohen.

         22                 MS. COHEN:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Dana Lee Cohen.

         24                 MS. COHEN:  Good afternoon, and thank

         25  you so much for giving me this opportunity to speak.
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          2                 I'm going to read from my statement

          3  in a moment, but basically what I want to present is

          4  that New York City has an amazing opportunity right

          5  now to use our sewage as a place to grow plants

          6  which will suck carbon dioxide out of our air

          7  system.  Right now we spend, an informal estimate

          8  given me, was $100 million to cart our sewage sludge

          9  outside of New York City.  There are environmental

         10  engineers who can place this sewage in ways that it

         11  will make plants, plants that we can use to generate

         12  ethanol, that we can use to generate flowers, that

         13  we can use to generate even edible fish.  We're

         14  spending $100 million to cart it out.

         15                 The most important part of ecology is

         16  that nothing really needs to be wasted.  New York

         17  City is a great source of these nutrients.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Just so you

         19  know that the DEP is under a federal mandate to do

         20  beneficial re- use of the fertilizer that that comes

         21  from the -- you got sewage and then you treat the

         22  sewage and then you get the concentrate, which is

         23  the sludge, and then we take the sludge, and then we

         24  dry it, and it's a whole thing.  But there is a lot

         25  of beneficial re- use and fertilizer that's made.  I
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          2  have some in my garage that DEP drops off for me

          3  because that's what I use on my property.

          4                 So I just want to make you aware of

          5  the fact that DEP does have a beneficial re- use

          6  program, but please continue.

          7                 MS. COHEN:  Okay, so although it

          8  sounds like I'm talking a lot about sludge, I'm

          9  talking about creating greenhouses that will suck

         10  out a lot of the carbon dioxide from our air, as

         11  well as create wonderful spaces.

         12                 Sewage in New York City is currently

         13  negatively impacting the health of the Jamaica Bay

         14  Wildlife Refuge as well as the Long Island Sound and

         15  the entirety of the Hudson Raritan Estuary, because

         16  it was not being reduced effectively enough to take

         17  out the nitrogen and phosphorus which induce

         18  eutrophication. Do I have to explain eutrophication?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  No, it's fine.

         20  It's fine.

         21                 MS. COHEN:  However, there is hope,

         22  so much hope, because this sewage can be used as the

         23  basis for greenhouses and other restorer water

         24  gardens which will be extremely pleasant for our

         25  children to wander through, extremely energy-
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          2  efficient and will grow huge amounts of plants which

          3  can be used for sale as flowers and resources for

          4  transformation into ethanol.  The savings would be

          5  huge.  This can be performed in- situ on lands

          6  currently referred to as brownfields along the

          7  waterfront in New York and New Jersey and even on

          8  Floyd Bennett Park.  I understand there's parts of

          9  the park that are polluted from having been used as

         10  a military basin. I can suggest environmental

         11  engineers who have a lot of experience in that area.

         12                 Sewage and blackwater can also be

         13  used to economically bioremediate brownfields

         14  incorporating biodynamics as per the work of L.A.

         15  Rotheraine in Pennsylvania.  Check out his website

         16  to see the amazing bioremediation he has

         17  accomplished in Bradford City in conjunction with

         18  their Water Authority and Department of

         19  Environmental Protection, saving their city

         20  approximately $215,000 per year, compared to

         21  conventional sludge disposal according to Kim

         22  Benjamin, Executive Director of the Bradford City

         23  Water Authority.

         24                 The attached brochure from John

         25  Todd's Ocean Arks International outlines the
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          2  process.  It is amazingly elegant, using very little

          3  electricity and manpower.  These gardens will suck

          4  up carbon dioxide while remediating New York City's

          5  blackwater.  As the technology develops, we believe

          6  we can even grow fish in the end stages of these

          7  waters, and experiments are underway to develop

          8  selections of plants which can also remove hormonal

          9  residues which currently adversely affect fish in

         10  the estuary, such as birth control pill residues in

         11  urine which leave our fish hermaphroditic and

         12  effectively sterile.

         13                 These greenhouses have the potential

         14  to suck up massive amounts of carbon dioxide and

         15  bring us saleable resources in the process.

         16  Further, they will reduce the expense in greenhouse

         17  gases we currently use in carting sludge out of the

         18  City.  In situ is the way.  I hope New York City

         19  will carefully consider this excellent and

         20  economical option.

         21                 There are other labs that I can refer

         22  the City to that have experience with DEPs in many

         23  other states in remediating everything from military

         24  waste to biological waste.  So I think it's a

         25  wonderful opportunity for our City, and I'm
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          2  especially excited because if you look at the

          3  greenhouses that Dr. Todd has created, they're

          4  really beautiful.  They're great places to be. They

          5  have dragonflies and butterflies and beetles, and we

          6  need more green space for our kids.  So thank you so

          7  much for this opportunity to speak to you, and thank

          8  you for having this hearing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We're very,

         10  very grateful to you, Ms. Cohen.  Thank you very

         11  much for being here.

         12                 MS. COHEN:  You're welcome.  Do you

         13  think you can use some of these ideas really?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yeah, not only

         15  was I going to use the ideas, but I'm going to give

         16  you -- anytime that someone uses a word in the

         17  Committee here that's never been used in the five

         18  years that I've been chairing this Committee,

         19  they're up for a special award, and the word

         20   "hermaphroditic" has never been used in this

         21  Committee before.  So you get sort of like the "new

         22  word award" so that is now part of our Committee

         23  lexicon.  So we appreciate that.

         24                 MS. COHEN:  Well, I try.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Let's hear from
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          2  Constance, and then we'll have some questions.

          3                 MS. LESOLD:  My name is Constance

          4  Lesold, and here you have the real green roots

          5  interest in this wonderful hearing that you're

          6  conducting today.  Thank you so much.  We will take

          7  this information back, and we will be using it.

          8                 I am one of the founders of the

          9  Eastern Parkway Coalition, which goes from Grand

         10  Emery Plaza to Ralph (phonetic), the tree- lined

         11  park and worked on the landmarking of the Eastern

         12  Parkway Coalition and established one of the first

         13  community gardens in Brooklyn.

         14                 I would strongly suggest that you put

         15  us on your wavelength as a group that's trying to

         16  deal with all the different kinds of things that

         17  you're dealing with in your attempts to control

         18  greenhouse gas emissions.

         19                 We are trying to help with the

         20  building of trees and gardens.  We've got the

         21  traffic right outside our door, not only causing

         22  tremendous air pollution, but real danger to our

         23  citizens because it flies so fast, and we've had

         24  numerous disruptions of civic peace as a result.

         25                 I'm also the Vice President of the
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          2  Haitian American Daycare Center and a member of

          3  Community Board Eight's Fire and Transportation and

          4  Parks Committees.  We are dealing with the health

          5  aspects, the asthma, the other lung diseases that

          6  are very much affected by air pollution.

          7                 When you're dealing with the Parks

          8  Department, which you must deal with along with DOT

          9  in dealing with all these questions, one of the

         10  things you need to be aware of in general is that

         11  some of the policies of the Parks Department which

         12  we are working with them on right on, are counter

         13  productive. For example, every year spraying for

         14  purposes of keeping the horticulture down, poisonous

         15  chemicals all over our parks and gardens and so

         16  forth. I just give that as an example so you see the

         17  inter- connections that you've got to work with from

         18  a public health standpoint.  Your Health Committee

         19  needs to be working on these too.

         20                 I think we will be successful in

         21  getting rid of these urbicides in the parks, because

         22  I think that is a relatively easy thing to do.  From

         23  the standpoint of involving a public that would

         24  rather do without agent orange in their parks, so to

         25  speak.
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          2                 One of the things I have not heard

          3  you bring up though that I think you really need to

          4  look at very carefully, if you want to get

          5  agreements from communities to do some of the things

          6  you're talking about in terms of reducing cars going

          7  into Manhattan, et cetera, et cetera, and if you

          8  want to reduce the greenhouse gas, you've got to

          9  look at the number of fires in the City.  We had

         10  over 13,000 fires alone last year in Brooklyn.

         11  That's not the whole City.  That gives off

         12  tremendous air pollutions and carbon and so forth.

         13  And yet, the City is making no visible effort to

         14  reduce the numbers of fires in the City.  Fire

         15  companies have been closed.  They have not been re-

         16  opened.  Fire houses are being put up for auction.

         17  The number of fire marshalls has been reduced to

         18  nothing, so there is no effort being seen on the

         19  part of City government to do anything about this

         20  part, and it's a substantial part, especially for

         21  some neighborhoods, like Bed- Sty. And Williamsburg,

         22  which have extremely high rates.  If you put in fire

         23  marshalls, you reduce some fires.  And, of course,

         24  in Williamsburg, they had the biggest fire since 911

         25  last year.

                                                            135

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 I think that if you thought about it,

          3  and seriously looked at it with elected officials

          4  like Councilwoman James, Councilman DeBlasio, David

          5  Yassky, it's worth looking at since you want to look

          6  at trade- offs, the possibilities of restoring fire

          7  companies to Williamsburg, 2212, reopen that fire

          8  house.  Put the company back in.  209 in Bed- Sty,

          9  re- open that company.  204 in Cobble Hill, re- open

         10  those companies.  Long Island City, it is

         11  fascinating to me that the Citizens Committee named

         12  Long Island City as Williamsburg, and Williamsburg

         13  as two communities that have to deal with these

         14  traffic problems.

         15                 You've got a very practical way right

         16  there of reducing, because you're not going to get

         17  rid of all the fires, but you will reduce the size

         18  of the fires.  Because when you have more companies

         19  closed, you get bigger fires.  When you have a

         20  public that sees that you are not going to tolerate

         21  the fires, you will have a bigger build- up.  In

         22  Midwood, there's tremendous numbers of fires.  They

         23  are like fourth in Brooklyn.  The gentleman here

         24  with me is from Flatbush Avenue in the lower part.

         25  All of Brooklyn is burning.  New York Magazine said
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          2  so.  They didn't just write about it.

          3                 Our old housing has got all the

          4  problems that you talked about.  We had the very

          5  exciting greenhousing coming in, and we have the

          6  Atlantic Arch which has done nothing to address

          7  these traffic issues.  It is shocking and stunning

          8  that the City and State are all approving this huge

          9  project and have done nothing to look at the traffic

         10  aspect, the fire aspect.  To the public, you see, it

         11  puts forth a hypocritical kind of look.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I have to ask

         13  you to summarize.  I really have to ask you to

         14  summarize

         15                 MS. LESOLD:  You've got the gist of

         16  what I'm saying, that you can't -- the right hand

         17  has to know what the left hand is doing.  You cannot

         18  close fire houses and set up big projects and

         19  everything else, and then cry that you're bringing

         20  in the whole world to look at greenhouse gas

         21  emissions in New York City.  It won't wash.  You can

         22  fool some of the people all of the time, and all of

         23  the people some of the time, but you can't fool all

         24  of the people all of the time.  You've got to have a

         25  concertive approach that brings in everybody in New
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          2  York City.  Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you, Ms.

          4  Lesold.  You should be aware, as I'm sure you are,

          5  that Council Member James has taken to the floor of

          6  the Council many times about the Atlantic Arch

          7  project and about how Brooklyn is burning, and her

          8  and Council Member Yassky and Council Member

          9  DeBlasio, and the people who represent that area, so

         10  you are well represented.  These issues are getting

         11  heard.

         12                 MS. LESOLD:  We have not always been

         13  so well represented.  I want to give you a fact

         14  because Council Member James has worked very hard

         15  with the grass roots.  We have prevention programs

         16   --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm going to

         18  have to leave it there though.  I'm going to have to

         19   --

         20                 MS. LESOLD:  -- With no expense to

         21  the City.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I understand.

         23                 MS. LESOLD:  I want you to know that

         24  we had zero arsons in Community Board Eight Crown

         25  Heights in December. That's not funny.  Because of
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          2  our work, mostly, and don't forget Congresswoman

          3  Clark, she used to head your Fire Committee, and she

          4  worked hard on these issues.  So you have somebody

          5  in Washington now to work with you on this.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          7                 MS. LESOLD:  You talked about --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm going to

          9  have to leave it there because I was willing to give

         10  you a fair amount of latitude, but.

         11                 MS. LESOLD:  I'm sorry.  I wouldn't

         12  have gone on, but I wanted you to know that at the

         13  grass roots we're working on these things, and we

         14  have reduced our fires, but we need some support

         15  from this City Council.  When that budget comes

         16  through this year, we need you guys to put some

         17  fight into getting fire services back.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Here, here.

         19  Thank you, Ms. Lesold and also Ms. Cohen.  We're

         20  currently meeting with the folks in DEP regarding

         21  their issues for nitrogen reduction, and there's a

         22  lot happening in this area.  So your testimony to us

         23  is very timely.  We'll keep you in the loop on those

         24  issues as well, because now we know you are involved

         25  in these issues.  So, thank you.
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          2                 MS. COHEN:  I appreciate that.  I

          3  know that there is new funding, I meant to mention

          4  that, coming through because there was $4 million

          5  that was given to Andy Willner and the New Jersey

          6  Bay Keeper.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          8                 MS. COHEN:  And there should be a lot

          9  of money available for this.  I think it's pretty

         10  exciting.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, you're

         12  part of a little group now that's dealing with these

         13  sewage issues.  We don't get a lot of people that

         14  want to sign up for these issues, but now that

         15  you've signed up, God bless you.

         16                 MS. COHEN:  Thank you so much.

         17  Sewage is my obsession.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It's a

         19  beautiful thing.  It's a beautiful thing.  Dr.

         20  Hammer, sorry to make you wait for so long in

         21  testifying, just to turn around and give you a

         22  homework assignment, but thank you for being a good

         23  sport about that because we want to see if we can

         24  move your issue forward.  With that said, I'm going

         25  to adjourn the hearing if I can find my gavel under
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          2  all this stuff.  Thanking everyone for being here,

          3  this hearing is adjourned.

          4

          5  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          6  CHRIS NEIDL

          7  SOLAR ONE

          8

          9                 PLANYC is laudable for its vision and

         10  comprehensive approach to our City's most pressing

         11  quality of life challenges. The fulfillment of its

         12  10 goals will insure New York's position as a global

         13  leader in the pursuit of urban sustainability.

         14                 However, there is one goal in

         15  particular which we believe merits the greatest

         16  attention and vigor of our leadership at present.

         17  That is the reduction of Citywide global warming

         18  emissions by 30 percent by 2030.

         19                 According to the Pew Center on Global

         20  Climate Change buildings in the U.S. account for

         21  over 40 percent of total CO2 emissions, the leading

         22  driver of anthropogenic warming.  Given New York

         23  City's considerable and ever expanding building

         24  stock, the City should provide funding and technical

         25  assistance to help foster a new generation of high
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          2  performance buildings, while providing resources for

          3  the modification of existing ones.  There are a

          4  number of policies that could be introduced to spur

          5  private development that are both environmentally

          6  effective and economically lucrative.  Our

          7  leadership should actively explore the possibility

          8  of enacting laws whereby new, large private

          9  developments that exceed a specific square footage

         10  and or are sited in grid constrained regions of the

         11  City be required to meet high performance building

         12  standards and or include clean, onsite generation

         13  technologies in their design.  Such a policy would

         14  not only reduce greenhouse gas emissions, but would

         15  also improve air quality and contribute to the

         16  reliabililty of the area's transmission and

         17  distribution grid.

         18                 The City should also work to lobby

         19  the State to change the regulatory barriers that

         20  inhibit the development and use of renewal

         21  technologies in building design, such as the current

         22  limits on net metering agreements that have an

         23  adverse effect on the development of solar power and

         24  other distributed sources. Additionally, costly and

         25  unnecessary certification requirements for solar
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          2  systems that exist in the City Code should

          3  immediately be revoked.

          4                 The City should also consider funding

          5  the construction of model high performance buildings

          6  that can serve as templates for future development.

          7  Ideally, these model buildings could serve as

          8  centers of excellence and serve to educate the

          9  public, builders and developers about new and

         10  emerging technologies that will help to reduce CO2

         11  emissions in years to come.

         12                 The New York City Investment Fund in

         13  its report Cleantech: A New Engine of Economic

         14  Growth for New York State released earlier this

         15  month noted the significant economic benefits that

         16  would accrue to the City with the development of

         17  renewable technology resources.  New Jobs,

         18  investments and initiatives are waiting to happen in

         19  New York City, but they need the incentives and in

         20  some cases like solar, the elimination of regulatory

         21  barriers to make them attractive to New York City.

         22                 We also strongly believe that actions

         23  should be taken to insure that under resourced

         24  communities throughout the five boroughs are not

         25  left behind in the development of these
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          2  opportunities.  Too often, it is these communities

          3  which suffer the greatest health and economic

          4  burdens associated with the City's key

          5  transportation, energy and waste management

          6  infrastructures.  While we attempt to reduce global

          7  CO2 emissions through the implementation of high

          8  performance standards and clean generation sources,

          9  we should create special incentives to foster green

         10  building and green sector job development in low

         11  income communities.

         12                 Finally, as the City develops its

         13  plans for all three of these goals, we believe that

         14  the City should support the development of the Solar

         15  2 Green Energy Arts and Education Center:

         16                 First, Solar 2 will be New York

         17  City's firstly and only carbon-neutral building,

         18  achieving net-zero energy use through onsite

         19  generation and state- of- the- art efficient

         20  technologies, making it one of the most significant

         21  buildings in New York City and the Northeast.  Solar

         22  2 will be a catalyst for helping people thing about

         23  the way they use energy in their daily lives and

         24  will demonstrate the prospects of additional carbon

         25  reduction measures in the building sector.
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          2                 Second, Solar 2 will be located on a

          3  City- owned brownfield site.  There is no better use

          4  for a brownfield site than to build on it a carbon

          5  neutral environmental learning center dedicated to

          6  educating the public about the sustainability issues

          7  that will continue to influence our City's

          8  prosperity and overall quality of life.

          9                 Many of these issues are addressed by

         10  PLANYC, and therefore Solar 2 could fill an

         11  important role as a point of articulation and public

         12  education for the City's long- term objectives.

         13                 Third, Solar 2 will be located in a

         14  waterfront park, Stuyvesant Cove Park as 23rd Street

         15  and the East River.  Not only is this a beneficial

         16  use of waterfront land, but under a long term lease

         17  with the City, Solar 2 will serve as the anchor

         18  tenant for the ongoing care and maintenance of

         19  Stuyvesant Cove Park.  This public- private

         20  partnership provides a unique opportunity to model

         21  new and effective ways of maintaining New York City

         22  cherished open spaces.

         23                 Solar One thanks the Committee for

         24  considering our comments.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 1:24 p.m.)
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